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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

As used in this report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 ("this Report"), the following abbreviations and terms have the meanings as listed below. In

2 ”»

addition, the terms “Gulf Island,” “the Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Gulf Island Fabrication, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context clearly
indicates otherwise. Certain terms defined below may be redefined separately within this Report when we believe providing a definition upon the first use of the term will assist
users of this Report. Unless and as otherwise stated, any references in this Report to any agreement means such agreement and all schedules, exhibits and attachments in each
case as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified to the date of filing this Report.

2019 Annual Report
ASU

Balance Sheet
contract assets
contract liabilities

CARES Act
Credit Agreement
deck

labor hours

DTA(s)
EPC

Exchange Act

F&S

FASB

Financial Statements
GAAP

inland or inshore

Jacket

Jennings Yard
LIBOR
LNG

Our annual report for the year ended December 31, 2019, filed with the SEC on Form 10-K on March 5, 2020.
Accounting Standards Update.

Our Consolidated Balance Sheets, as filed in this Report.

Costs and estimated earnings recognized to date in excess of cumulative billings.

Cumulative billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings recognized to date and accrued contract losses.

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act.

Our $40.0 million revolving credit facility with Whitney Bank.

The component of a platform on which drilling, production, separating, gathering, piping, compression, well support, crew quartering and
other functions related to offshore oil and gas development are conducted.

Hours worked by employees directly involved in the production of our products. These hours do not include support personnel such as
maintenance and warehousing.

Deferred Tax Asset(s).

Engineering, procurement and construction phases of a complex project that requires project management and coordination of these
significant activities.

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Our Fabrication & Services Division.

Financial Accounting Standards Board.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements, including comparative Consolidated Balance Sheets, Statements of Operations, Statements of
Changes in Shareholders' Equity and Statements of Cash Flows, as filed in this Report.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the U.S.
Typically, in bays, lakes and marshy areas.
A component of a fixed platform consisting of a tubular steel, braced structure extending from the mudline of the seabed to a point above the

water surface. The jacket is anchored with tubular steel pilings driven into the seabed. The jacket supports the deck structure located above
the water.

Our Shipyard Division's facility located near Jennings, Louisiana.
London Inter-Bank Offered Rate.
Liquified Natural Gas.
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modules

MPSV
NOL(s)
offshore
onshore
osv

performance obligation

piles
PPP

PPP Loan

SEC

Shipyard

SBA

Statement of Cash Flows
Statement of Operations

Surety

T&M
Topic 606
Us.

Whitney Bank

Fabricated structures including structural steel, piping, valves, fittings, storage vessels and other equipment that are incorporated into a
refining, petrochemical, LNG or industrial system. These modules are prefabricated at our facilities and then transported to the customer's
location for final integration.

Multi-Purpose Service Vessel.

Net operating loss(es) that are available to offset future taxable income, subject to certain limitations.
In unprotected waters outside coastlines.

Inside the coastline on land.

Offshore Support Vessel.

A contractual obligation to construct and transfer a distinct good or service to a customer. It is the unit of account in Topic 606. The
transaction price of a contract is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance
obligation is satisfied.

Rigid tubular pipes that are driven into the seabed to support platforms.
Paycheck Protection Program administered by the SBA under the CARES Act.

Our $10.0 million loan with Whitney Bank issued pursuant to the PPP.

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

Our Shipyard Division.

Small Business Administration.

Our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, as filed in this Report.
Our Consolidated Statements of Operations, as filed in this Report.

A financial institution that issues bonds to customers on behalf of the Company for the purpose of providing third-party financial assurance
related to the performance of our contracts.

Work performed and billed to the customer generally at contracted time and material rates, cost plus or other variable fee arrangements.
The revenue recognition criteria prescribed under ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

The United States of America.

Hancock Whitney Bank.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.
GULF ISLAND FABRICATION, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 48,562 $ 49,703
Short-term investments 19,993 19,918
Contracts receivable and retainage, net 16,178 26,095
Contract assets 64,905 52,128
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,005 3,948
Inventory 2,723 2,676
Assets held for sale 8,082 9,006
Total current assets 162,448 163,474
Property, plant and equipment, net 69,651 70,484
Other noncurrent assets 18,930 18,819
Total assets $ 251,029 $ 252,777
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 70,542 $ 61,542
Contract liabilities 11,571 26,271
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 8,077 10,031
Total current liabilities 90,190 97,844
Other noncurrent liabilities 2,228 2,248
Total liabilities 92,418 100,092
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, no par value, 5,000 shares authorized, no shares
issued and outstanding — —
Common stock, no par value, 30,000 shares authorized, 15,290 shares issued
and outstanding at March 31, 2020 and 15,263 at December 31, 2019 11,121 11,119
Additional paid-in capital 103,143 103,124
Retained earnings 44,347 38,442
Total shareholders’ equity 158,611 152,685
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 251,029 $ 252,777

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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GULF ISLAND FABRICATION, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(UNAUDITED)

(in thousands, except per share data)

Three Months Ended March 31,

2020 2019

Revenue 78,555 $ 67,605
Cost of revenue 78,809 67,052

Gross profit (loss) (254) 553
General and administrative expense 3,744 3,834
Impairments and (gain) loss on assets held for sale — (70)
Other (income) expense, net (9,934) 71

Operating income (loss) 5,936 (3,282)
Interest (expense) income, net 53 262

Net income (loss) before income taxes 5,989 (3,020)
Income tax (expense) benefit (84) (22)

Net income (loss) 5,905 $ (3,042)
Per share data:

Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share 0.39 $ (0.20)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance at December 31, 2018
Net loss
Vesting of restricted stock
Stock-based compensation expense
Balance at March 31, 2019

Balance at December 31, 2019
Net income
Vesting of restricted stock
Stock-based compensation expense
Balance at March 31, 2020

GULF ISLAND FABRICATION, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(UNAUDITED)
(in thousands)

Additional Total
Common Stock Paid-In Retained Shareholders’
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Equity
15,090 $ 11,021 $ 102,243 87,836 $ 201,100
— — — (3,042) (3,042)
146 (71) (643) — (714)
— 56 504 — 560
15236  $ 11,006 $ 102,104 84,794  § 197,904
Additional Total
Common Stock Paid-In Retained Shareholders’
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Equity
15263 § 11,119 §$ 103,124 38,442 $ 152,685
— — — 5,905 5,905
27 ®) (66) — (74)
— 10 85 — 95
15290 $ 11,121 $ 103,143 44347 $ 158,611

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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GULF ISLAND FABRICATION, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED)

(in thousands)

Three Months Ended March 31,

2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 5,905 $ (3,042)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and lease asset amortization 2,220 2,552
Other amortization, net 13 12
Bad debt expense — 53
Asset impairments — 299
(Gain) loss on sale of assets held for sale, net — (369)
(Gain) loss on sale of fixed assets and other assets, net 5) 101
Stock-based compensation expense 95 560
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Contracts receivable and retainage, net 9,917 796
Contract assets (12,777) (8,725)
Prepaid expenses, inventory and other current assets 1,829 1,095
Accounts payable 9,663 7,542
Contract liabilities (14,700) (7,611)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (1,918) (1,558)
Noncurrent assets and liabilities, net (including long-term retainage) (235) (182)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 7 (8,477)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (2,124) (250)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,080 424
Purchases of short-term investments — (20,041)
Maturities of short-term investments — 8,500
Net cash used in investing activities (1,044) (11,367)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of financing cost (30) —
Tax payments for vested stock withholdings (74) (715)
Net cash used in financing activities (104) (715)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,141) (20,559)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 49,703 70,457
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 48,562 $ 49,898

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



GULF ISLAND FABRICATION, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2020
(Unaudited)

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations

Gulf Island Fabrication, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, “Gulf Island,” "the Company," "we," "us" and "our") is a leading fabricator of complex steel structures,
modules and marine vessels, and a provider of project management, hookup, commissioning, repair, maintenance and civil construction services. Our customers include United
States ("U.S.") and, to a lesser extent, international energy producers; refining, petrochemical, LNG, industrial, power and marine operators; EPC companies; and certain
agencies of the U.S. government. We operate and manage our business through two operating divisions ("Shipyard" and "Fabrication & Services") and one non-operating
division ("Corporate"), which represent our reportable segments. Our corporate headquarters is located in Houston, Texas, with operating facilities located in Houma, Jennings
and Lake Charles, Louisiana. See Note 7 for discussion of our realigned reportable segments and discussion of our anticipated closure of the Jennings Yard.

Significant projects in our backlog include the fabrication of an offshore jacket and deck as well as modules for an offshore facility; material supply for an offshore
jacket and deck; and construction of three harbor tug vessels, three regional class research vessels, three vehicle ferries, an ice-breaker tug, and five towing, salvage and rescue
ships. Projects completed in recent years include the expansion of a paddle wheel riverboat; fabrication of petrochemical modules as well as a meteorological tower and
platform for an offshore wind project; and construction of seven harbor tug vessels and two towboats. Other completed projects include the fabrication of wind turbine
foundations for the first offshore wind project in the U.S.; and construction of two technologically-advanced OSVs, two of the largest liftboats servicing the Gulf of Mexico
("GOM"), one of the deepest production jackets in the GOM, and the first single point anchor reservoir ("SPAR") hull fabricated in the U.S.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements ("Financial Statements") reflect all wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.
("GAAP") for interim financial statements, the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the
"SEC"). Accordingly, the Financial Statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In our opinion, all
adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the three months ended March
31, 2020 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2020.

Our Consolidated Balance Sheet ("Balance Sheet") at December 31, 2019, has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date, but does not include all of
the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. For further information, refer to the Financial Statements and related footnotes included in
our 2019 Annual Report.

Liquidity Outlook

In recent years our operating results and cash flows have been impacted by lower margins due to competitive pricing, a significant underutilization of our facilities and
losses on certain projects. As a result, we implemented initiatives to improve and maintain our liquidity (including reducing the compensation of our executive officers and
directors and reducing the size of our board), reduce our reliance on the fabrication of structures and marine vessels associated with the offshore oil and gas sector, improve our
resource utilization and centralize our key project resources, and improve our competitiveness and project execution. These initiatives are ongoing, and while we can provide
no assurances that the initiatives will achieve our desired results, we believe our cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and availability under our Credit Agreement
(defined in Note 4), will be sufficient to enable us to fund our operating expenses, meet our working capital and capital expenditure requirements, and satisfy any debt service
obligations or other funding requirements, for at least twelve months from the filing date of this Report.
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Operating Cycle

The durations of our contracts vary, but typically extend beyond twelve months from the date of contract award. Consistent with industry practice, assets and liabilities
have been classified as current under the operating cycle concept whereby all contract-related items are classified as current regardless of whether cash will be received or paid
within a twelve-month period. Assets and liabilities classified as current which may not be received or paid within the next twelve months include contract retainage, contract
assets and contract liabilities. Variations from normal contract terms may result in the classification of assets and liabilities as long-term.

Use of Estimates

General - The preparation of our Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We believe our most significant estimates and judgments are associated with
revenue recognition for our contracts, including application of the percentage-of-completion method, estimating costs to complete each contract and the recognition of
incentives, unapproved change orders, claims and liquidated damages; fair value and recoverability assessments that must be periodically performed with respect to long-lived
assets and our assets held for sale; determination of deferred income tax assets, liabilities and related valuation allowances; reserves for bad debts; liabilities related to self-
insurance programs; and the impacts of the Coronavirus (“COVID-19) and low oil prices on our business, estimates and judgments as discussed further below. If the
underlying estimates and assumptions upon which our Financial Statements are based change in the future, actual amounts may differ materially from those included in the
Financial Statements.

COVID-19 and Low Oil Prices - COVID-19 is a widespread public health crisis that is adversely affecting the economies and financial markets globally. In March 2020,
the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic and the U.S. President has announced a national emergency relating to COVID-19. National, state and local
authorities have recommended social distancing and imposed, or are considering, quarantine and isolation measures on large portions of the population, including mandatory
business closures. These measures, while intended to protect human life, have had and are expected to continue to have a significant impact on domestic and foreign economies
of uncertain severity and duration. The effectiveness of economic stabilization efforts, including proposed government payments to affected citizens and industries, is uncertain.
Due to COVID-19 and related measures, there has been a decline in the demand for, and thus prices of, oil and these declines have been exacerbated by a market share dispute
between the world’s largest oil producers. Some economists are predicting the U.S. may enter a recession of unknown duration. The extent to which COVID-19 and low oil
prices may adversely impact our business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows depends on future developments that are highly uncertain and
unpredictable. As a result of this current level of uncertainty over the economic and operational impacts of COVID-19 and low oil prices, the related business and financial
impacts cannot be reasonably estimated at this time, and may include, among other things, unanticipated project costs due to project disruptions and schedule delays, lower
labor productivity, lack of performance by subcontractors and suppliers, and contract disputes, including claims. Events and changes in circumstances arising after this Report
resulting from the impacts of COVID-19, if any, will be reflected in management’s estimates for future periods.

Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted income
(loss) per share reflects the assumed conversion of dilutive securities. See Note 6 for calculations of our basic and diluted income (loss) per share.

Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments
Cash Equivalents - We consider investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Short-Term Investments - We consider investments with original maturities of more than three months but less than twelve months to be short-term investments. At
March 31, 2020, our short-term investments include U.S. Treasuries with original maturities of less than six months. We intend to hold these investments until maturity and it
is not more likely than not that we would be required to sell the investments prior to their maturity. The investments are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value
due to their near-term maturities. All short-term investments are traded on active markets with quoted prices and represent level 1 fair value measurements.

Inventory

Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value determined using the first-in-first-out basis. The cost of inventory includes acquisition costs,
production or conversion costs, and other costs incurred to bring the inventory to a current
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location and condition. Net realizable value is our estimated selling price in the normal course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and
transportation. An allowance for excess or inactive inventory is recorded based on an analysis that considers current inventory levels, historical usage patterns, estimates of
future sales and salvage value.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

In the normal course of business, we extend credit to our customers on a short-term basis and contract receivables are generally not collateralized; however, we
typically have the right to place liens on our projects in the event of nonpayment by our customers. We routinely review individual contract receivable balances for collectibility
and make provisions for probable uncollectible amounts as necessary. Among the factors considered in our review are the financial condition of our customer and its access to
financing, underlying disputes with the customer, the age and value of the receivable balance, and economic conditions in general. See Note 2 for further discussion of our
allowance for doubtful accounts.

Stock-Based Compensation

Awards under our stock-based compensation plans are calculated using a fair value-based measurement method. We use the straight-line method to recognize share-
based compensation expense over the requisite service period of the award. We recognize the excess tax benefit or tax deficiency resulting from the difference between the
deduction we receive for tax purposes and the stock-based compensation expense we recognize for financial reporting purposes created when common stock vests, as an
income tax benefit or expense on our Statement of Operations.

Tax payments made on behalf of employees to taxing authorities in order to satisfy employee income tax withholding obligations from the vesting of shares under our
stock-based compensation plans are classified as a financing activity on our Statement of Cash Flows.

Assets Held for Sale
Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. See Note 3 for further discussion of our assets held for sale.
Depreciation Expense

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging from three to 25 years. Ordinary maintenance and repairs,
which do not extend the physical or economic lives of the plant or equipment, are charged to expense as incurred.

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, which include property, plant and equipment and our lease assets included within other noncurrent assets, are reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If a recoverability assessment is required, we compare the estimated future undiscounted
cash flow associated with the asset or asset group to its carrying amount to determine if an impairment exists. An asset group constitutes the minimum level for which
identifiable cash flows are principally independent of the cash flows of other assets or asset groups. An impairment loss is measured by comparing the fair value of the asset or
asset group to its carrying amount and recording the excess of the carrying amount of the asset or asset group over its fair value as an impairment charge. Fair value is
determined based on discounted cash flows, appraised values or third-party indications of value, as appropriate.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value determinations for financial assets and liabilities are based on the particular facts and circumstances. Financial instruments are required to be categorized
within a valuation hierarchy based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels of the valuation hierarchy are as follows:

. Level 1 - inputs are based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.

. Level 2 - inputs are based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant
assumptions are observable in the market.

. Level 3 - inputs are based upon model-based valuation techniques for which significant assumptions are generally not observable in the market and typically
reflect estimates and assumptions that we believe market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. These include discounted cash flow models and
similar valuation techniques.
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The carrying amounts of our financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate
their fair values. See Note 3 for discussion of our assets held for sale.

Revenue Recognition

General - Our revenue is derived from customer contracts and agreements that are awarded on a competitively bid and negotiated basis using a range of contracting
options, including fixed-price, unit-rate and T&M. Our contracts primarily relate to the fabrication and construction of steel structures, modules and marine vessels, and project
management services and other service arrangements. We recognize revenue for our contracts in accordance with Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-09, Topic 606
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers” ("Topic 606").

Topic 606 requires entities to recognize revenue in a way that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Additionally, provisions of Topic 606 specify which goods and services are
distinct and represent separate performance obligations (representing the unit of account in Topic 606) within a contract and which goods and services (which could include
multiple contracts or agreements) should be aggregated. In general, a performance obligation is a contractual obligation to construct and/or transfer a distinct good or service to
a customer. The transaction price of a contract is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is
satisfied. Revenue for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognized as the work progresses. Revenue for performance obligations that do not meet the criteria for
over time recognition are recognized at a point-in-time when a performance obligation is complete and a customer has obtained control of a promised asset.

Fixed-Price and Unit-Rate Contracts - Revenue for our fixed-price and unit-rate contracts is recognized using the percentage-of-completion method based on contract
costs incurred to date compared to total estimated contract costs (an input method). Contract costs include direct costs, such as materials and labor, and indirect costs
attributable to contract activity. Material costs that are significant to a contract and do not reflect an accurate measure of project completion are excluded from the
determination of our contract progress. Revenue for such materials is only recognized to the extent of costs incurred. Revenue and gross profit for contracts accounted for
using the percentage-of-completion method can be significantly affected by changes in estimated cost to complete such contracts. Significant estimates impacting the cost to
complete a contract include: costs of engineering, materials, components, equipment, labor and subcontracts; labor productivity; schedule durations, including subcontractor
and supplier progress; contract disputes, including claims; achievement of contractual performance requirements; and contingency, among others. Although our customers
retain the right and ability to change, modify or discontinue further work at any stage of a contract, in the event our customers discontinue work, they are required to
compensate us for the work performed to date. The cumulative impact of revisions in total cost estimates during the progress of work is reflected in the period in which these
changes become known, including, to the extent required, the reversal of profit recognized in prior periods and the recognition of losses expected to be incurred on contracts.
Due to the various estimates inherent in our contract accounting, actual results could differ from those estimates, which could result in material changes to our Financial
Statements and related disclosures. See Note 2 for further discussion of projects with significant changes in estimated margins during the three months ended March 31, 2020
and 2019.

T&M Contracts - Revenue for our T&M contracts is recognized at contracted rates when the work is performed, the costs are incurred and collection is reasonably
assured. Our T&M contracts provide for labor and materials to be billed at rates specified within the contract. The consideration from the customer directly corresponds to the
value of our performance completed at the time of invoicing.

Variable Consideration - Revenue and gross profit for contracts can be significantly affected by variable consideration, which can be in the form of unapproved change
orders, claims, incentives and liquidated damages that may not be resolved until the later stages of the contract or after the contract has been completed. We estimate variable
consideration based on the amount we expect to be entitled and include estimated amounts in transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant future reversal of
cumulative revenue recognized will not occur or when we conclude that any significant uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. See Note 2 for further
discussion of unapproved change orders, claims, incentives and liquidated damages.

Additional Disclosures - Topic 606 also requires enhanced disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows from contracts
with customers. See Note 2 for required disclosures under Topic 606.

Pre-Contract Costs

Pre-contract costs are generally charged to cost of revenue as incurred, but in certain cases their recognition may be deferred if specific probability criteria are met. At
March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, we had no deferred pre-contract costs.
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Other (Income) Expense, Net

Other (income) expense, net, generally represents recoveries or provisions for bad debts, gains or losses associated with the sale or disposition of property and
equipment other than assets held for sale, and income or expense associated with certain nonrecurring items. For the three months ended March 31, 2020, other (income)
expense also includes a gain of approximately $10.0 million associated with the settlement of a contract dispute for a project completed in 2015.

Income Taxes

Income taxes have been provided using the liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes using enacted rates expected to be in effect during the year in which the
differences are expected to reverse. Due to changing tax laws, significant judgment is required to estimate the effective tax rate expected to apply to tax differences that are
expected to reverse in the future.

A valuation allowance is provided to reserve for deferred tax assets ("DTA(s)") if, based upon the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the
DTAs will not be realized. The realization of our DTAs depends on our ability to generate sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character and in the appropriate
jurisdictions.

Reserves for uncertain tax positions are recognized when we consider it more likely than not that additional tax will be due in excess of amounts reflected in our income
tax returns, irrespective of whether or not we have received tax assessments. Interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions are recorded within income tax expense.

New Accounting Standards

Financial instruments - In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses - Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments,” which changes the way companies evaluate credit losses for most financial assets and certain other instruments. For trade and other receivables, short-term
investments, loans and other instruments, entities will be required to use a new forward-looking “expected loss” model to evaluate impairment, potentially resulting in earlier
recognition of allowances for losses. The new standard also requires enhanced disclosures, including the requirement to disclose the information used to track credit quality by
year of origination for most financing receivables. ASU 2016-13 will be effective for us in the first quarter 2023. Early adoption of the new standard is permitted; however, we
have not elected to early adopt the standard. The new standard is required to be applied using a cumulative-effect transition method. We are currently evaluating the effect that
the new standard will have on our financial position, results of operations and related disclosures.

Income taxes - In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, “Income Taxes,” to simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the
general principles and simplify areas such as franchise taxes, step-up in tax basis goodwill, separate entity financial statements and interim recognition of enacted tax laws or
rate changes. The new standard will be effective for us in the first quarter 2021. We are currently evaluating the effect that the new standard will have on our financial position,
results of operations and related disclosures.

2. REVENUE, CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND OTHER CONTRACT MATTERS

As discussed in Note 1, we recognize revenue for our contracts in accordance with Topic 606. Summarized below are required disclosures under Topic 606 and other
relevant guidance.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following tables summarize revenue for each of our operating segments, disaggregated by contract type, for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31, 2020

Shipyard F&S Eliminations Total
Contract Type
Fixed-price and unit-rate(1) $ 44302 $ 24,557 $ @85 $ 68,774
T&M(?2) 1,257 6,925 — 8,182
Other — 1,961 (362) 1,599
Total $ 45,559  § 33,443  § (447) $ 78,555




Three Months Ended March 31, 20193

Shipyard F&S Eliminations Total
Contract Type
Fixed-price and unit-rate(1) $ 34,450 $ 17,497 $ (73) $ 51,874
T&M(?2) 2,961 10,622 — 13,583
Other — 2,474 (326) 2,148
Total $ 37,411 $ 30,593 § 399) § 67,605

(1) Revenue is recognized as the contract is progressed over time.
(2) Revenue is recognized at contracted rates when the work is performed and costs are incurred.

(3)  See Note 7 for discussion of our realigned operating divisions.
Future Performance Obligations Required Under Contracts

The following table summarizes our remaining performance obligations by operating segment at March 31, 2020 (in thousands):

Performance
Segment Obligations
Shipyard(1) $ 449,258
Fabrication & Services 29,191
Total $ 478,449

(1)  Amount excludes approximately $21.9 million of remaining performance obligations related to contracts for the construction of two MPSVs that are subject to dispute pursuant to
termination notices from our customer. See Note 5 for further discussion of these contracts.

We expect to recognize revenue for our remaining performance obligations at March 31, 2020, in the following periods (in thousands):

Performance
Year Obligations
Remainder 2020 $ 144,680
2021 183,269
2022 127,841
Thereafter 22,659
Total $ 478,449

Contracts Assets and Liabilities

Revenue recognition and customer invoicing for our fixed-price and unit-rate contracts may occur at different times. Revenue recognition is based upon our estimated
percentage-of-completion as discussed in Note 1; however, customer invoicing is generally dependent upon contractual billing terms, which could provide for customer
payments in advance of performing the work, milestone billings based on the completion of certain phases of the work, or when services are provided. Revenue recognized in
excess of amounts billed is reflected as contract assets on our Balance Sheet. Amounts billed in excess of revenue recognized, and accrued contract losses, are reflected as
contract liabilities on our Balance Sheet. Information with respect to uncompleted contracts at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 is as follows (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Contract assets $ 64,905 $ 52,128
Contract liabilities(1). (2). 3) (11,571) (26,271)
Contracts in progress, net $ 53334 § 25,857

(1) The decrease in contract liabilities compared to December 31, 2019, was primarily due to the unwind of advance payments on three projects in our Shipyard Division and two
projects in our Fabrication & Services Division.

(2) Revenue recognized during the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 related to amounts included in our contract liabilities balance at December 31, 2019 and 2018, was
$17.0 million and $13.5 million, respectively.
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(3) Contract liabilities at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, includes accrued contract losses of $4.6 million and $6.4 million, respectively. See "Project Changes in Estimates"

below for further discussion of our accrued contract losses.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our provision for bad debts is included in other (income) expense, net on our Statement of Operations. Our provision for bad debts for the three months ended March
31,2020 and 2019, and our allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were not significant.

Variable Consideration

For the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, we had no material amounts in revenue related to unapproved change orders, claims or incentives. However, at
March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, certain projects reflected a reduction to our estimated contract price for liquidated damages of $11.8 million and $12.9 million,
respectively, of which $11.2 million was recorded during 2017.

Changes in Project Estimates

Changes in Estimates for 2020 - For the three months ended March 31, 2020, significant changes in estimated margins on projects negatively impacted operating results
for our Shipyard Division by $1.2 million and benefited operating results for our Fabrication & Services Division by $0.9 million. The changes in estimates were associated
with the following:

Shipyard Division

. Forty-Vehicle Ferry Projects - Increased forecast costs and forecast liquidated damages of $1.2 million for our two, forty-vehicle ferry projects, primarily
associated with increased craft labor and material costs and extensions of schedule. The increases were primarily due to anticipated rework for the first vessel,
including potential reconstruction of previously completed portions of the vessel, resulting from the determination that portions of the vessel structure are outside
of acceptable tolerance levels. The previous construction activities were performed by our former Fabrication Division prior to transferring management and
project execution responsibility of the vessels to our Shipyard Division in the first quarter 2020 as discussed further in Note 7. At March 31, 2020, the projects
were approximately 42% and 55% complete and are forecast to be completed in 2020 and 2021. The projects were in a loss position at March 31, 2020 and our
reserve for estimated losses was $3.3 million. If future craft labor productivity and subcontractor costs differ from our current estimates, we are unable to achieve
our progress estimates, our schedules are further extended or the projects incur additional schedule liquidated damages, the projects would experience further
losses.

Fabrication & Services Division

. Paddle Wheel Riverboat and Subsea Components Projects - Reduced forecast costs and increased contract price of $0.9 million for our paddle wheel riverboat
and subsea components projects, primarily associated with reduced craft labor and subcontracted services costs and change orders. The benefits were primarily
due to better than anticipated labor productivity and favorable resolution of change orders with subcontractors and the customers. At March 31, 2020, the projects
were both complete.

Changes in Estimates for 2019 - For the three months ended March 31, 2019, individual projects with significant changes in estimated margins did not have a material
net impact on our operating results.

Other Project Matters

Project Tariffs - Certain imported materials used, or forecast to be used, for our projects are currently subject to existing, new or increased tariffs or duties. We believe
such amounts, if incurred, are recoverable from our customers under the contractual provisions of our contracts; however, we can provide no assurances that we will
successfully recover such amounts.

Other — At March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, other noncurrent assets on our Balance Sheet included $3.0 million of retention for a previously completed project
in our Fabrication & Services Division for the fabrication of petrochemical modules. This retention is billable to the customer upon expiration of the contractual warranty
period, which is expected to occur in the second quarter 2020. In January 2020, the customer entered into a restructuring through a prepackaged Chapter 11 bankruptcy process
and received court approval in March 2020. The restructuring is intended to enable the customer to fulfill its commitments to suppliers, including payment of our retention;
however, it could delay the timing of collection of the retention.
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3. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Our assets held for sale at March 31, 2020, primarily consisted of three 660-ton crawler cranes and a deck barge. A summary of our assets held for sale at March 31,
2020 and December 31, 2019, is as follows (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
Assets 2020 2019
Machinery and equipment $ 15338 § 17,618
Accumulated depreciation (7,256) (8,612)
Total assets held for sale $ 8,082 $ 9,006

During the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, we received proceeds of $1.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively, related to the sale of assets that were
held for sale. During the three months ended March 31, 2020, no gain or loss was recognized on the asset sales as the proceeds approximated the carrying value of the assets.
During the three months ended March 31, 2019, we recorded a gain of $0.4 million on the asset sales and recorded impairments of $0.3 million related to other assets that were
held for sale.

4. CREDIT FACILITIES
Credit Agreement

We have a $40.0 million revolving credit facility (“Credit Agreement”) with Hancock Whitney Bank ("Whitney Bank") that can be used for borrowings or letters of
credit that matures June 9, 2021. On February 28, 2020, we amended our Credit Agreement to amend our financial covenants. Our amended quarterly financial covenants at
March 31, 2020, and for the remaining term of the Credit Agreement, are as follows:

. Ratio of current assets to current liabilities of not less than 1.25:1.00;

. Minimum tangible net worth of at least the sum of $130.0 million, plus 100% of the proceeds from any issuance of stock or other equity after deducting of any
fees, commissions, expenses and other costs incurred in such offering;

. Minimum cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $40.0 million; and

. Ratio of funded debt to tangible net worth of not more than 0.50:1.00.

Our Credit Agreement also includes restrictions regarding our ability to: (i) grant liens; (ii) make certain loans or investments; (iii) incur additional indebtedness or
guarantee other indebtedness in excess of specified levels; (iv) make any material change to the nature of our business or undergo a fundamental change; (v) make any material
dispositions; (vi) acquire another company or all or substantially all of its assets; (vii) enter into a merger, consolidation, or sale leaseback transaction; or (viii) declare and pay
dividends if any potential default or event of default occurs.

Interest on borrowings under the Credit Agreement may be designated, at our option, as either the Wall Street Journal published Prime Rate (3.3% at March 31, 2020)
or LIBOR (1.0% at March 31, 2020) plus 2.0% per annum. Commitment fees on the unused portion of the Credit Agreement are 0.4% per annum and interest on outstanding
letters of credit is 2.0% per annum. The Credit Agreement is secured by substantially all of our assets with a negative pledge on our real property.

At March 31, 2020, we had no outstanding borrowings under our Credit Agreement and $9.8 million of outstanding letters of credit to support our projects, providing
$30.2 million of available capacity. At March 31, 2020, we were in compliance with all of our financial covenants, with a tangible net worth of $159.3 million (as defined by
the Credit Agreement); total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $68.6 million; a ratio of current assets to current liabilities of 1.80 to 1.00; and a ratio of
funded debt to tangible net worth of 0.06:1.00.

Surety Bonds

We issue surety bonds in the ordinary course of business to support our projects. At March 31, 2020, we had $411.8 million of outstanding surety bonds.
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Loan Agreement

On April 17, 2020, we entered into an unsecured loan in the aggregate amount of $10.0 million (“PPP Loan”) with Whitney Bank pursuant to the Paycheck Protection
Program (“PPP”), which is sponsored by the Small Business Administration (“SBA”), and is part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES
Act”). We received a consent from Whitney Bank that allows the PPP Loan to be included as permitted debt under our debt covenants in our Credit Agreement and is subject
to, among other things, compliance with the CARES Act and use of the PPP Loan proceeds only for permissible purposes and in a manner intended to maximize our
entitlement to forgiveness of the PPP Loan. See Note 8 for further discussion of the PPP Loan.

5. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We are subject to various routine legal proceedings in the normal conduct of our business, primarily involving commercial disputes and claims, workers’ compensation
claims, and claims for personal injury under general maritime laws of the U.S. and the Jones Act. While the outcome of these lawsuits, legal proceedings and claims cannot be
predicted with certainty, we believe that the outcome of any such proceedings, even if determined adversely, would not have a material adverse effect on our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

MPSYV Termination Letter

During the first quarter 2018, we received notices of termination of the contracts for the construction of two MPSVs from one of our Shipyard Division customers. We
dispute the purported terminations and disagree with the customer’s reasons for such terminations. Pending the resolution of the dispute, we have ceased all work and the
partially completed vessels and associated equipment and materials remain at our facility in Houma, Louisiana. The customer also made claims under the bonds issued by the
Surety in connection with the construction of the vessels. We have discussed with the Surety our disagreement with the customer's purported terminations and its claims and
continue to confer with the Surety regarding the dispute with the customer.

On October 2, 2018, we filed a lawsuit against the customer to enforce our rights and remedies under the applicable construction contracts. Our lawsuit disputes the
propriety of the customer’s purported terminations of the construction contracts and seeks to recover damages associated with the customer’s actions. The customer filed its
response to our lawsuit denying many of the allegations in the lawsuit and asserting a counterclaim against us seeking, among other things, declaratory judgment as to the
validity of the customer’s purported terminations of the construction contracts and other purported claims for which the customer is seeking damages in an unspecified amount.
We have filed a response to the counterclaim denying all of the customer’s claims. The customer subsequently filed an amendment to its counterclaim to add claims by the
customer against the Surety. The customer also filed a motion for partial summary judgment with the trial court seeking, among other things, to obtain possession of the vessels.
A hearing on the motion was held on May 28, 2019, and the customer's request to obtain possession of the vessels was denied by the trial court. The customer subsequently
filed a second motion for partial summary judgment re-urging its previously denied request to obtain possession of the vessels. A hearing on the second motion was held on
November 5, 2019, and the customer’s request to obtain possession of the vessels was again denied by the trial court. Thereafter, the customer requested that the appellate court
exercise its discretion and review the trial court’s denial of the customer’s second motion. We have opposed the discretionary appellate review request of the customer and the
appellate matter is pending. Discovery in connection with the lawsuit is ongoing.

We are unable to estimate the probability of a favorable or unfavorable outcome with respect to the dispute or estimate the amount of potential loss, if any, related to
this matter. We can provide no assurances that we will not incur additional costs as we pursue our rights and remedies under the contracts and defend against the customer’s
claims. At March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, other noncurrent assets on our Balance Sheet included a net contract asset of $12.5 million, which consisted of our contract
asset, accrued contract losses, and deferred revenue balances at the time of the customer's purported terminations of the contracts. In April 2020, the customer announced it was
entering into a restructuring through a prepackaged Chapter 11 bankruptcy process. However, as of the filing date of this Report, the customer had not filed for Chapter 11. We
hold first priority security interests and liens against the MPSVs that secure the obligations owed to us by the customer.

Insurance

We may be exposed to future losses through our use of deductibles and self-insured retentions for our exposures related to third party liability and workers'
compensation. We expect liabilities in excess of any deductibles and self-insured retentions to be covered by insurance. To the extent we are self-insured, reserves are recorded
based upon our estimates, with input from legal and insurance advisors. Changes in assumptions, as well as changes in actual experience, could cause these estimates to
change.

Letters of Credit and Surety Bonds

We obtain letters of credit under our Credit Agreement or surety bonds from financial institutions to provide to our customers in order to secure advance payments or
guarantee performance under our contracts, or in lieu of retention being withheld on our
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contracts. With respect to a letter of credit under our Credit Agreement, any payment in the event of non-performance under a contract would become a borrowing under our
Credit Agreement and thus a direct obligation. With respect to a surety bond, any payment in the event of non-performance is subject to indemnification of the Surety by us,
which may require us to borrow under our Credit Agreement. When a contract is complete, the contingent obligation terminates, and letters of credit or surety bonds are
returned. See Note 4 for further discussion of our Credit Agreement and surety bonds.

Environmental Matters

Our operations are subject to extensive and changing U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations, as well as the laws of other countries, that establish health and
environmental quality standards. These standards, among others, relate to air and water pollutants and the management and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes. We
are exposed to potential liability for personal injury or property damage caused by any release, spill, exposure or other accident involving such pollutants, substances or
wastes. In connection with the historical operation of our facilities, including those associated with acquired operations, substances which currently are or might be considered
hazardous were used or disposed of at some sites that will or may require us to make expenditures for remediation. We believe we are in compliance, in all material respects,
with environmental laws and regulations and maintain insurance coverage to mitigate exposure to environmental liabilities. We do not believe any environmental matters will
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flow.

6. INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE

The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted income (loss) per share for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands, except
per share data):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2020 2019
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders $ 5905 $ (3,042)
Weighted-average shares(1) 15,275 15,151
Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share $ 039 $ (0.20)

(1) We have no dilutive securities.

7. OPERATING SEGMENTS

During 2019, we operated and managed our business through three operating divisions ("Fabrication," "Shipyard" and "Services") and one non-operating division
("Corporate"), which represented our reportable segments. In the first quarter 2020, our Fabrication and Services Divisions were operationally combined to form an integrated
new division called Fabrication & Services. The operational combination will enable us to capitalize on the best practices and execution experience of the former divisions and
maximize the utilization of our resources. As a result, we currently operate and manage our business through two operating divisions ("Shipyard" and "Fabrication & Services")
and one non-operating division ("Corporate"), which represent our reportable segments. Accordingly, the segment results (including the effects of eliminations) for our
Fabrication and Services Divisions for 2019 were combined to conform to the presentation of our reportable segments for 2020. In addition to the division combination, in the
first quarter 2020, management and project execution responsibility for our two, forty-vehicle ferry projects was transferred from our former Fabrication Division to our
Shipyard Division to better align the supervision and construction of these vessels with the capabilities and expertise of our Shipyard Division. Accordingly, results for these
projects for 2019 were reclassified from our former Fabrication Division to our Shipyard Division to conform to the presentation of these projects for 2020. Our two operating
divisions and Corporate Division are discussed below:

Shipyard Division - Our Shipyard Division fabricates newbuild marine vessels, including OSVs, MPSVs, research vessels, tugboats, salvage vessels, towboats, barges,
drydocks, anchor handling vessels, and lift boats; provides marine repair and maintenance services, including steel repair, blasting and painting services, electrical systems
repair, machinery and piping system repairs, and propeller, shaft, and rudder reconditioning; and performs conversion projects to lengthen vessels and modify vessels to permit
their use for a different type of activity or enhance their capacity or functionality. These activities are performed at our facilities in Houma, Jennings and Lake Charles,
Louisiana. In the first quarter 2020, we announced our intent to close the Jennings Yard upon completion of our harbor tug projects, which is forecast to occur in the third
quarter 2020.
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Fabrication & Services Division - Our Fabrication & Services (“F&S”) Division fabricates modules, skids and piping systems for onshore refining, petrochemical,
LNG and industrial facilities and offshore facilities; fabricates foundations, secondary steel components and support structures for alternative energy developments and coastal
mooring facilities; fabricates offshore production platforms and associated structures, including jacket foundations, piles and topsides for fixed production and utility platforms,
as well as hulls and topsides for floating production and utility platforms; fabricates other complex steel structures and components; provides services on offshore platforms,
including welding, interconnect piping and other services required to connect production equipment and service modules and equipment; provides on-site construction and
maintenance services on inland platforms and structures and industrial facilities; and performs municipal and drainage projects, including pump stations, levee reinforcement,
bulkheads and other public works. These activities are performed at our facility in Houma, Louisiana.

Corporate Division - Our Corporate Division includes costs that do not directly relate to our two operating divisions. Such costs include, but are not limited to, costs of
maintaining our corporate office, executive management salaries and incentives, board of directors' fees, litigation related costs, and costs associated with overall corporate
governance and being a publicly traded company. Costs incurred by our Corporate Division on behalf of our operating divisions are allocated to the operating divisions. Such
costs include, but are not limited to, human resources, insurance, sales and marketing, information technology and accounting.

We generally evaluate the performance of, and allocate resources to, our divisions based upon gross profit (loss) and operating income (loss). Segment assets are
comprised of all assets attributable to each division. Intersegment revenues are priced at the estimated fair value of work performed. Summarized financial information for our

segments as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, are as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31, 2020

Shipyard F&S Corporate Consolidated
Revenue $ 45,559  $ 33,443 $ (447) $ 78,555
Gross profit (loss) (1,224) 970 — (254)
Operating income (loss) (1,899) 10,165 (2,330) 5,936
Depreciation and amortization expense 787 1,358 75 2,220
Capital expenditures 1,443 681 — 2,124
Total assets(1) 109,651 70,886 70,492 251,029

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019(2)

Shipyard F&S Corporate Consolidated
Revenue $ 37411 $ 30,593 $ 399) $ 67,605
Gross profit (loss) (280) 969 (136) 553
Operating loss (904) (251) (2,127) (3,282)
Depreciation and amortization expense 1,109 1,341 102 2,552
Capital expenditures 22 228 — 250
Total assets(1) 96,961 86,348 75,406 258,715

(1)  Cash and short-term investments are reported within our Corporate Division. Total assets previously reported for 2019 have been recast to conform to our presentation for 2020.
(2)  Revenue of $0.8 million associated with our two, forty-vehicle ferry projects for 2019 was reclassified from our former Fabrication Division to our Shipyard Division to conform to
the presentation of these projects for 2020 (the projects had no significant gross profit for 2019).

8. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

As discussed in Note 4, on April 17, 2020, we entered into the PPP Loan with Whitney Bank for proceeds of $10.0 million pursuant to the PPP, which is sponsored by
the SBA and is part of the CARES Act. The PPP provides for loans to qualifying businesses, the proceeds of which may only be used for payroll costs, rent, utilities, mortgage
interest, and interest on other pre-existing indebtedness (the “permissible expenses”). The PPP Loan matures on April 17, 2022, bears interest at a fixed rate of 1.0 percent per
annum, and is payable in monthly installments commencing on November 17, 2020. The PPP Loan may be prepaid at any time prior to maturity with no prepayment
penalties. The PPP Loan, and accrued interest, may be forgiven partially or in full, if certain conditions are met. The most significant of the conditions are:

. Only amounts expended for permissible expenses during the eight-week period following April 17, 2020 (the “covered period™) are eligible for loan forgiveness;

. Of the total amount of permissible expenses for which forgiveness can be granted, at least 75% must be for payroll costs, or a proportionate reduction of the
maximum loan forgiveness amount will occur; and
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. If there are reductions in employee headcount (or employee compensation is reduced by more than 25%) during the covered period, a further reduction of the
maximum loan forgiveness amount will occur.

In order to obtain full forgiveness of the PPP Loan, we must request forgiveness and provide satisfactory documentation in accordance with applicable SBA

guidelines. We will be obligated to repay any portion of the principal amount of the PPP Loan that is not forgiven, together with accrued interest. We intend to use the PPP
Loan proceeds for only permissible purposes; however, we can provide no assurances that we will be eligible for forgiveness of the PPP Loan, in whole or in part.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” is provided to assist readers in understanding our financial
performance during the periods presented and significant trends that may impact our future performance. This discussion should be read in conjunction with our Financial
Statements and the related notes thereto.

Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking Information

This Report contains forward-looking statements in which we discuss our potential future performance. Forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the safe
harbor provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, are all statements other than statements of historical facts, such as projections or expectations
relating to oil and gas prices, operating cash flows, capital expenditures, liquidity and tax rates. The words “anticipates,” “may,” “can,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates,”
“expects,” “projects,” “targets,” “intends,” “likely,” “will,” “should,” “to be,” “potential” and any similar expressions are intended to identify those assertions as forward-
looking statements.

”»

”

We caution readers that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results may differ materially from those anticipated, projected
or assumed in the forward-looking statements. Important factors that can cause our actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements
include the duration and scope of, and uncertainties associated with, the COVID-19 pandemic and related contraction in oil demand and the dispute over production levels
between Russia and the members of OPEC and the impact thereof on our business and the global economy, which are evolving and beyond our control, our ability to secure
new project awards, including fabrication projects for refining, petrochemical, LNG and industrial facilities and offshore wind developments, our ability to improve project
execution, the cyclical nature of the oil and gas industry, competition, consolidation of our customers, timing and award of new contracts, reliance on significant customers,
financial ability and credit worthiness of our customers, nature of our contract terms, competitive pricing and cost overruns on our projects, adjustments to previously reported
profits or losses under the percentage-of-completion method, weather conditions, changes in backlog estimates, suspension or termination of projects, our ability to raise
additional capital, our ability to amend or obtain new debt financing or credit facilities on favorable terms, our ability to remain in compliance with our covenants contained in
our Credit Agreement, our ability to generate sufficient cash flow, our ability to sell certain assets, any future asset impairments, utilization of facilities or closure or
consolidation of facilities, customer or subcontractor disputes, our ability to resolve the dispute with a customer relating to the purported terminations of contracts to build two
MPSVs, operating dangers and limits on insurance coverage, barriers to entry into new lines of business, our ability to employ skilled workers, loss of key personnel,
performance of subcontractors and dependence on suppliers, changes in trade policies of the U.S. and other countries, compliance with regulatory and environmental laws, lack
of navigability of canals and rivers, shutdowns of the U.S. government, systems and information technology interruption or failure and data security breaches, performance of
partners in any future joint ventures and other strategic alliances, shareholder activism, focus on environmental, social and governance factors by institutional investors and
other factors described in Item 1A "Risk Factors" in our 2019 Annual Report as may be updated by subsequent filings with the SEC.

Investors are cautioned that many of the assumptions upon which our forward-looking statements are based are likely to change after the forward-looking statements
are made, which we cannot control. Further, we may make changes to our business plans that could affect our results. We caution investors that we do not intend to update
forward-looking statements more frequently than quarterly notwithstanding any changes in our assumptions, changes in business plans, actual experience or other changes, and
we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.

Overview
Certain terms are defined in the “Glossary of Terms” beginning on page ii.

We are a leading fabricator of complex steel structures, modules and marine vessels, and a provider of project management, hookup, commissioning, repair,
maintenance and civil construction services. Our customers include United States ("U.S.") and, to a lesser extent, international energy producers; refining, petrochemical, LNG,
industrial, power, and marine operators; EPC companies; and certain agencies of the U.S. Government.

During 2019, we operated and managed our business through three operating divisions ("Fabrication," "Shipyard" and "Services") and one non-operating division
("Corporate"), which represented our reportable segments. In the first quarter 2020, our Fabrication and Services Divisions were operationally combined to form an integrated
new division called Fabrication & Services. As a result, we operate and manage our business through two operating divisions ("Shipyard" and "Fabrication & Services") and
one non-operating division ("Corporate"), which represent our reportable segments. Accordingly, the segment results (including the effects of eliminations) for our Fabrication
and Services Divisions for 2019 were combined to conform to the presentation of our reportable segments for 2020. In addition to the division combination, in the first quarter
2020, management and project execution responsibility for our two, forty-vehicle ferry projects were transferred from our former Fabrication Division to our Shipyard
Division. Accordingly,
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results for these projects for 2019 were reclassified from our former Fabrication Division to our Shipyard Division to conform to the presentation of these projects for 2020 (the
projects had no significant gross profit for 2019). See Note 7 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our realigned operating divisions.

Our corporate headquarters is located in Houston, Texas, with operating facilities located in Houma, Jennings and Lake Charles, Louisiana. In the first quarter 2020, we
announced our intent to close the Jennings Yard upon completion of our harbor tug projects, which is forecast to occur in the third quarter 2020. See Note 7 of our Financial
Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our anticipated closure of the Jennings Yard.

Beginning in late 2014, a decline in oil and gas prices led to a significant and sustained reduction in capital spending and drilling activities from our traditional
offshore oil and gas customer base. Consequently, our operating results and cash flows were negatively impacted as we experienced reductions in revenue, lower margins due
to competitive pricing, significant underutilization of our operating facilities and losses on certain projects. During the first quarter 2020, we again experienced a significant
decline in oil prices to historical lows due to a decline in demand for oil resulting from an unprecedented global health crisis due to the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) and related
economic crisis compounded by a market share dispute between the world’s largest oil producers.

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic and the U.S. President declared a national emergency relating to COVID-19. National,
state and local authorities have recommended social distancing and imposed, or are considering, quarantine and isolation measures on large portions of the population,
including mandatory business closures. These measures, while intended to protect human life, have had and are expected to continue to have a significant impact on domestic
and foreign economies of uncertain severity and duration. The effectiveness of economic stabilization efforts, including proposed government payments to affected citizens and
industries, is uncertain. Some economists are predicting the U.S. may enter a recession of unknown duration.

The decline in oil prices and COVID-19 has created significant uncertainty for our oil and gas related customer base. Certain of our customers have requested to
renegotiate pricing and suspended contracts in our backlog, and bidding activities for several new project opportunities have been suspended. Given that we operate in a critical
infrastructure industry as defined by the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, we have continued to operate our facilities. However, we are being impacted by employee
absenteeism and the effects on productivity and utilization from mitigation measures put in place to ensure the safety and well-being of our employees and contractors (as
discussed further below) and by the effects of COVID-19 on our suppliers, subcontractors and customers. See ItemlA and Note 1 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for
further discussion of the COVID-19 pandemic and developments in the global oil markets. We are addressing these operational, market and economic challenges through a
strategy focused on the following initiatives to:

. Mitigate the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations, employees and contractors;

. Improve and maintain our liquidity through cost reduction efforts and the sale of underutilized assets;
B Improve our resource utilization and centralize our key project resources through the rationalization and integration of our facilities and operations;
. Improve our competitiveness and project execution by enhancing our proposal, estimating and operations resources, processes and procedures; and

. Reduce our reliance on the fabrication of structures and marine vessels associated with the offshore oil and gas sector by repositioning the Company to:
—  Fabricate modules, piping systems and other structures for onshore refining, petrochemical, LNG and industrial facilities;
- Fabricate newbuild marine vessels for the government and other customers unrelated to the offshore oil and gas sector; and
- Fabricate foundations, secondary steel components and support structures for offshore wind development.
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Progress on our Initiatives

Efforts to mitigate the impacts of COVID-19 on our operations, employees and contractors — We are taking actions to mitigate the impacts of COVID-19 on our
operations while ensuring the safety and well-being of our employees and contractors.

. COVID-19 measures — We have initiated measures that include, among other things, daily communications with our leadership teams to anticipate and proactively
address COVID-19 impacts, work-place distancing of employees (including allowing employees to work from home where appropriate) and regular monitoring of
office and yard personnel for compliance. We are also monitoring employee temperatures prior to entering our facilities, implemented employee wellness
questionnaires, increased monitoring of employee absenteeism and the reasons for such absences, and initiated protocols for employees returning from absences
including employees that have tested positive for COVID-19. In addition, we have installed hand sanitizing stations and taken additional actions to sanitize our
facilities.

. Pursuit of force majeure — We are giving appropriate notices to our customers and making the appropriate claims for extensions of schedule for our projects which
have been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.

. Loan agreement — In April 2020, we entered into a loan agreement for proceeds of $10.0 million pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) under the
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”). The proceeds may be used for payroll, benefits, rent and utilities. See “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” below and Note 8 of our Financial Statements within Item 1 for further discussion of the loan agreement.

Efforts to preserve and improve our liquidity — We continue to take actions to preserve and improve our liquidity. At March 31, 2020 our cash and short-term
investments totaled $68.6 million and availability under our Credit Agreement totaled $30.2 million. Our liquidity reflects our cost reduction initiatives (including reducing the
compensation of our executive officers and directors and reducing the size of our board), the sale of underutilized assets and facilities and an ongoing focus on project cash flow
management. In addition to our cash and short-term investments, at March 31, 2020, our assets held for sale totaled $8.1 million. Further, as discussed above, we entered into a
loan agreement in April 2020 pursuant to the PPP under the CARES Act.

Efforts to improve our resource utilization and centralize our key project resources — We are improving our resource utilization and centralizing our key project
resources through the rationalization and integration of our facilities and operations.

. Closure of Jennings Yard — We previously announced our intent to close the Jennings Yard upon completion of our harbor tug projects, which is forecast to occur
during the third quarter 2020. The closure will consolidate our new build marine vessel construction activities in our Houma Yards, enabling us to maximize the
utilization of our resources by reducing our overhead costs, combine our management and supervision talent in a single location, and improve our project
execution. See Note 7 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our anticipated closure of the Jennings Yard.

. Combination of our Fabrication Division and Services Division and Realignment of Projects — As discussed above, in the first quarter 2020, we combined our
Fabrication and Services Divisions to form an integrated new division called Fabrication & Services. The integration will enable us to capitalize on the best
practices and execution experience of the former divisions, conform processes and procedures, maximize the utilization of our resources (including reducing
overhead costs) and improve project execution. In addition, as discussed above, in the first quarter 2020, management and project execution responsibility for our
two, forty-vehicle ferry projects was transferred from our former Fabrication Division to our Shipyard Division to better align the supervision and construction of
these vessels with the capabilities and expertise of our Shipyard Division.

Efforts to improve our competitiveness and project execution — We have taken, and continue to take, actions to improve our competitiveness and project execution by
enhancing our proposal, estimating and operations resources, processes and procedures. Such actions include strategic changes in management and key personnel, the addition
of functional expertise and other measures designed to strengthen our personnel, processes and procedures. Further, we are taking a more disciplined approach to pursuing and
bidding project opportunities, putting more rigor around our bid estimates to provide greater confidence that our estimates are achievable, increasing accountability and
providing incentives for the execution of projects in line with our original estimates and subsequent forecasts, and incorporating recent lessons learned into the bidding and
execution of future projects.

Efforts to reduce our reliance on the offshore oil and gas sector — We are pursuing several initiatives to reduce our reliance on the fabrication of structures and marine
vessels associated with the offshore oil and gas sector.

. Fabrication of onshore modules, piping systems and structures - We continue to focus our business development efforts on the fabrication of modules, piping
systems and other structures for onshore refining, petrochemical, LNG and industrial fabrication facilities. We have experienced success with several smaller
project opportunities, and our volume of bidding activity for onshore modules, piping systems and structures remains high; however, our pursuit of large project
opportunities has been negatively affected by the competitive market environment and the timing and delay of certain opportunities. We continue to believe that
our strategic location in Houma, Louisiana and our successful fabrication and timely delivery of four large petrochemical modules in 2018, position us well to
compete in the onshore fabrication market;

-19-



however, we do not expect large project opportunities to be awarded by customers until late 2020 or 2021. This timing may be impacted by uncertainty created by
the recent decrease and volatility of oil prices and the COVID-19 pandemic. In the interim, we continue to strengthen our relationships with key customers and
strategic partners and enhance our resources as discussed above.

Fabrication of newbuild marine vessels for the government and other non-oil and gas related customers - We continue to pursue newbuild marine vessel
opportunities for customers unrelated to the offshore oil and gas sector. During the first quarter 2020, the U.S. Navy exercised its options for the construction of
two additional towing, salvage and rescue ships, and continues to have options for three additional vessels. At March 31, 2020, 95% of the backlog within our
Shipyard Division was attributable to government and other customers unrelated to the offshore oil and gas sector, including the construction of three research
vessels, five towing, salvage and rescue ships and three vehicle ferries.

Fabrication of offshore wind foundations, secondary steel components and support structures - We continue to believe that future requirements to provide
electricity from renewable and green sources will result in growth of offshore wind projects. Furthermore, we believe that we possess the expertise to fabricate
foundations, secondary steel components and support structures for this emerging market. This is demonstrated by our fabrication of wind turbine foundations for
the first offshore wind project in the U.S. in 2015, and the fabrication of a meteorological tower and platform for an offshore wind project in 2018. While we
believe we have the capability to participate in this emerging market, we do not expect meaningful opportunities until 2021 or 2022.

Operating Outlook

Our focus remains on securing profitable new project awards and backlog in the near-term and generating operating income and cash flows in the longer-term, while
ensuring the safety and well-being of our employees and contractors in light of the COVID-19 pandemic. Our success, including achieving the aforementioned initiatives, will
be determined by, among other things:

Oil and gas prices and the level of volatility in such prices;
The COVID-19 pandemic, for which the business and financial impacts cannot be reasonably estimated at this time;

The level of fabrication opportunities in our traditional offshore markets and the new markets we are pursuing, including refining, petrochemical, LNG and
industrial facilities and offshore wind developments;

The level of new build marine vessel activity within, and outside of, the oil and gas sector;

Our ability to secure new project awards through competitive bidding and/or alliance and partnering arrangements;
Our ability to execute projects within our cost estimates and successfully manage them through completion;

Our ability to hire, motivate and retain key personnel and craft labor to execute our projects;

The successful integration of our Fabrication Division and Services Division and closure of our Jennings Yard; and

Our ability to resolve our dispute with a customer related to the construction of two MPSVs (see Note 5 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 and “Legal
Proceedings” in Ttem 3 for further discussion of the dispute).

In addition, in the near-term: (i) the utilization of our Shipyard Division will be impacted by temporary delays in construction activities for our three research vessel
projects until engineering achieves further completion and disruptions caused by the closure of our Jennings Yard, (ii) the utilization of our newly integrated Fabrication &
Services Division will be impacted by the delay in timing of new project awards and suspension of work on certain projects in backlog and (iii) the utilization of both divisions
will be impacted by inefficiencies associated with COVID-19 related employee absenteeism and mitigation measures. Our near-term results may also be impacted by costs
associated with investments in key personnel and process improvement efforts to support our aforementioned initiatives. In addition, our gross profit for both divisions will be
impacted in the near-term as certain projects within our backlog are in a loss position and a majority of our remaining backlog is at, or near, break-even gross
profit. Specifically, due to previous project awards bid at competitive pricing (including the option exercises by our customer in the first quarter 2020 for two additional
towing, salvage and rescue ships) and project charges in 2019, approximately 5% of our backlog is in a loss position (excluding our MPSV projects), 75% of our backlog is at,
or near, break-even, and our remaining backlog is at a low gross profit margin. Accordingly, this backlog will result in future revenue with low or no gross profit; however, we
continue to focus on improvements to our people, processes and procedures to improve project gross profit. See Item1A and Note 1 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for
further discussion of the COVID-19 pandemic and developments in the global oil markets.
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Critical Accounting Policies

For a discussion of critical accounting policies and estimates used in the preparation of our Financial Statements, refer to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7 included in our 2019 Annual Report. There have been no changes to our critical accounting policies since December
31, 2019.

New Awards and Backlog

New project awards represent expected revenue values of commitments received during a given period, including scope growth on existing commitments. A
commitment represents authorization from our customer to begin work or purchase materials pursuant to a written agreement, letter of intent or other form of authorization.
Backlog represents the unrecognized revenue for our new project awards and may differ from the value of future performance obligations for our contracts required to be
disclosed under Topic 606 and presented in Note 2 of our Financial Statements in Item 1. In general, a performance obligation is a contractual obligation to construct and/or
transfer a distinct good or service to a customer. The transaction price of a contract is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as,
the performance obligation is satisfied. Backlog includes our performance obligations at March 31, 2020, plus signed contracts that are temporarily suspended or under protest
that may not meet the criteria to be reported as future performance obligations under Topic 606 but represent future work that we believe will be performed. We believe that
backlog, a non-GAAP financial measure, provides useful information to investors. New project awards and backlog may vary significantly each reporting period based on the
timing of our major new contract commitments.

Projects in our backlog are generally subject to delay, suspension, termination, or an increase or decrease in scope at the option of the customer; however, the customer
is required to pay us for work performed and materials purchased through the date of termination, suspension, or decrease in scope. Depending on the size of the project, the
delay, suspension, termination or increase or reduction in scope of any one contract could significantly impact our backlog and change the expected amount and timing of
revenue recognized.

New project awards by Division for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, are as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

Division 2020 2019
Shipyard $ 128,919 $ 2,795
Fabrication & Services 12,647 43,029

Total New Awards $ 141,566 $ 45,824

A reconciliation of our remaining performance obligations under Topic 606 (the most comparable GAAP measure as presented in Note 2 of our Financial Statements in
Item 1) to our reported backlog is provided below (in thousands).

March 31, 2020
Shipyard F&S Consolidated
Remaining performance obligations under Topic 606 $ 449,258 § 29,191 § 478,449
Contracts under purported termination(1) 21,388 — 21,888
Total Backlog(2) $ 471,146  $ 29,191  § 500,337
Backlog by Division at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, is as follows (in thousands):
March 31, 2020 December 31, 20190)

Division Amount Labor Hours Amount Labor Hours
Shipyard $ 471,146 3,182 § 387,340 2,645
Fabrication & Services 29,191 317 49,986 492

Total Backlog(2) $ 500,337 3499 8§ 437,326 3,137
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Backlog at March 31, 2020 is expected to be recognized as revenue in the following periods (in thousands):

Year(4) Total
Remainder of 2020 $ 144,680
2021 183,269
2022 127,841
Thereafter 22,659
Future performance obligations under Topic 606 478,449
Contracts under purported termination(1) 21,888
Backlog(2) $ 500,337

(€]

(2

(3)

(O]

Represents backlog within our Shipyard Division related to contracts for the construction of two MPSVs that are subject to purported notices of termination by our customer. We
dispute the purported terminations and disagree with the customer’s reasons for the same. We can provide no assurances that we will reach a favorable resolution with the customer
for completion of the two MPSVs. See Note 5 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 and “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 for further discussion of the dispute.

At March 31, 2019, ten customers represented approximately 98% of our backlog and at December 31, 2019, eleven customers represented approximately 96% of our backlog.
At March 31, 2020, backlog from the ten customers consisted of:

(i) Construction of one harbor tug within our Shipyard Division. The fourth of five vessels was completed in the first quarter 2020. We estimate completion of the remaining
vessel in 2020;
(ii) Construction of two harbor tugs within our Shipyard Division (separate from above). The fourth of five vessels was completed in April 2020. We estimate completion of the

remaining vessel in 2020;
(iii) Construction of three regional class research vessels within our Shipyard Division. We estimate completion of the vessels in 2022 and 2023;

(iv) Construction of five towing, salvage and rescue ships within our Shipyard Division. We estimate completion of the vessels in 2021, 2022 and 2023. Our customer has
options for the construction of three additional vessels;

) Construction of two, forty-vehicle ferries within our Shipyard Division. We estimate completion of the vessels in 2020 and 2021;

(vi) Fabrication of an offshore jacket and deck (destined for Trinidad) within our Fabrication & Services Division. We estimate completion of the project in 2020;

(vii)  Construction of a seventy-vehicle ferry within our Shipyard Division. We estimate completion of the vessel in 2021;

(viii)  Fabrication of modules for an offshore facility within our Fabrication & Services Division. We estimate completion of the project in 2021;

(ix) Material supply for an offshore jacket and deck within our Fabrication & Services Division. In April 2020, our customer suspended the project until further notice; and
(x) Construction of two MPSV’s within our Shipyard Division. See footnote (1) above for further discussion.

In the first quarter 2020, our Fabrication and Services Divisions were operationally combined to form a new division called Fabrication & Services. Accordingly, backlog as of
December 31, 2019 for our former Fabrication and Services Divisions has been combined to conform to the presentation of our reportable segments for 2020. In addition, in the first
quarter 2020, management and project execution responsibility for our two, forty-vehicle ferry projects was transferred from our former Fabrication Division to our Shipyard
Division. Accordingly, $13.4 million of backlog and 0.1 million labor hours associated with these projects as of December 31, 2019 was reclassified from our former Fabrication
Division to our Shipyard Division to conform to the presentation of these projects for 2020. See Note 7 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our realigned
operating divisions.

The timing of recognition of the revenue presented in our backlog is based on our current estimates to complete the projects. Certain factors and circumstances could cause changes
in the amounts ultimately recognized and the timing of recognition of revenue from our backlog.

Our contracts for the construction of five towing, salvage and rescue ships contain options which grant our customer (the U.S. Navy) the right, if exercised, for the
construction of three additional vessels at contracted prices. We do not include options in our backlog. If all options under our current contracts were exercised by such
customer, our backlog would increase by approximately $203.0 million. We have not received any commitments from such customer related to the exercise of these options,
and we can provide no assurances that any options will be exercised. We believe disclosing these options provides investors with useful information to evaluate additional
potential work that we would be contractually obligated to perform under our current contracts as well as the potential significance of these options, if exercised.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of Three Months Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands in each table, except for percentages):

In the comparative tables below, percentage changes that are not considered meaningful (generally when the prior period amount is immaterial or when the percentage
change is significantly greater than 100%) are shown below as "nm" (not meaningful).

Consolidated
Three Months Ended Favorable (Unfavorable)
March 31, Change
2020 2019 Amount Percent
New project awards $ 141,566 $ 45,824 $ 95,742 nm
Revenue $ 78,555 $ 67,605 $ 10,950 16.2%
Cost of revenue 78,809 67,052 (11,757) (17.5)%
Gross profit (loss) (254) 553 (807) (145.9)%
Gross profit (loss) percentage -0.3% 0.8%
General and administrative expense 3,744 3,834 90 2.3%
Impairments and (gain) loss on assets held for sale — (70) (70) (100.0)%
Other (income) expense, net (9,934) 71 10,005 nm
Operating income (loss) 5,936 (3,282) 9,218 nm
Interest (expense) income, net 53 262 (209) (79.8)%
Net income (loss) before income taxes 5,989 (3,020) 9,009 nm
Income tax (expense) benefit (84) (22) (62) nm
Net income (loss) $ 5,905 $ (3,042) $ 8,947

New Project Awards — New project awards for 2020 and 2019 were $141.6 million and $45.8 million, respectively. Significant new project awards for 2020 relate to
the exercise of options by the U.S. Navy for the construction of two additional towing, salvage and rescue ships within our Shipyard Division. Significant new project awards
for 2019 relate to our offshore jacket and deck and subsea components projects within our Fabrication & Services Division.

Revenue - Revenue for 2020 and 2019 was $78.6 million and $67.6 million, respectively, representing an increase of 16.2%. The increase was primarily due to:

. Increased revenue for our Shipyard Division of $8.1 million, primarily due to our towing, salvage and rescue ship projects associated with increased construction
activities and procurement progress on engineered equipment manufactured by vendors, offset partially by lower revenue for our harbor tug projects as we had
fewer vessels under construction; and

. Increased revenue for our Fabrication & Services Division of $2.9 million, primarily due to our offshore jacket and deck project, offset partially by lower offshore
services activity.

Gross profit (loss) - Gross profit (loss) for 2020 and 2019 was a gross loss of $0.3 million (0.3% of revenue) and gross profit of $0.6 million (0.8% of revenue),
respectively. Gross loss for 2020 was primarily due to:

. A low margin backlog and the under recovery of overhead costs, primarily associated with the underutilization of our facilities within our Fabrication & Services
Division, and to a lesser extent within our Shipyard Division; and

. Project charges of $1.2 million for our Shipyard Division, offset partially by project improvements of $0.9 million for our Fabrication & Services Division. See
“Segments” below and Note 2 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our project impacts.

The gross loss for 2020 relative to gross profit for 2019 was primarily due to:

. A lower margin mix for our Fabrication & Services Division inclusive of the aforementioned project improvements; and
. A lower margin mix and the aforementioned project charges for our Shipyard Division, offset partially by,
. Higher revenue and increased recoveries of overhead costs due to higher activity, primarily for our Shipyard Division.
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General and administrative expense - General and administrative expense for 2020 and 2019 was $3.7 million (4.8% of revenue) and $3.8 million (5.7% of revenue),
respectively, representing a decrease of 2.3%. The decrease was primarily due to:

. Lower incentive plan costs and other costs savings, primarily within our Corporate and Fabrication & Services Divisions; offset partially by,
. Higher legal and advisory fees related to customer disputes.

The customer disputes relate primarily to a contract dispute for a completed project that was settled during the first quarter 2020, and our MPSV projects which are
subject to purported termination and for which construction has been suspended. Legal and advisory fees related to such disputes totaled $0.6 million and $0.1 million for 2020
and 2019, respectively, and are reflected within our Corporate Segment. See Note 1 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our settlement of the contract
dispute and Note 5 for further discussion of our MPSV dispute.

Impairments and (gain) loss on assets held for sale — Impairments and (gain) loss on assets held for sale for 2019 was a gain of $0.1 million. See Note 3 of our
Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our assets held for sale.

Other (income) expense, net - Other (income) expense, net for 2020 and 2019 was income of $9.9 million and expense of $0.1 million, respectively. Other (income)
expense, net generally represents recoveries or provisions for bad debts, gains or losses associated with the sale or disposition of property and equipment other than assets held
for sale, and income or expense associated with certain nonrecurring items. The income for 2020 was due to a gain of approximately $10.0 million associated with the
settlement of a contract dispute for a project completed in 2015. See Note 1 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our settlement of the contract
dispute.

Interest (expense) income, net - Interest (expense) income, net for 2020 and 2019, was income of $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively. The net interest income for
both periods was primarily due to interest earned on our cash and short-term investment balances, offset partially by interest on the unused portion of our Credit Agreement and
interest amortization associated with our long-term lease liability. The decrease in interest income for 2020 was primarily due to a decrease in interest rates.

Income tax (expense) benefit - Income tax (expense) benefit for 2020 and 2019, was expense of $0.1 million and $22,000, respectively. Our income tax expense for both
periods represents state income taxes. No federal income tax expense was recorded for our 2020 net income as it was fully offset by the reversal of valuation allowance on our
net deferred tax assets. No federal income tax benefit was recorded for our 2019 net loss as a full valuation allowance was recorded against our net deferred tax assets generated
during the period.

Segments
Shipyard Division(1)
Three Months Ended Favorable (Unfavorable)
March 31, Change
2020 2019 Amount Percent
New project awards $ 128,919 $ 2,795 $ 126,124 nm
Revenue $ 45,559 $ 37,411 $ 8,148 21.8%
Gross loss (1,224) (280) (944) (337.1)%
Gross loss percentage -2.7% -0.7%

General and administrative expense 575 624 49 7.9%
Other (income) expense, net 100 — (100) nm
Operating loss (1,899) (904) (995) (110.1)%

(1) In the first quarter 2020, management and project execution responsibility for our two, forty-vehicle ferry projects was transferred from our former Fabrication Division to our Shipyard
Division. Accordingly, revenue of $0.8 million associated with these projects for 2019 was reclassified from our former Fabrication Division to our Shipyard Division to conform to
the presentation of these projects for 2020 (the projects had no significant gross profit for 2019). See Note 7 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our
realigned operating divisions.

New Project Awards — New project awards for 2020 and 2019 were $128.9 million and $2.8 million, respectively. Significant new project awards for 2020 primarily
relate to the exercise of options by the U.S. Navy for the construction of two additional towing, salvage and rescue ships.
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due to:

Revenue — Revenue for 2020 and 2019 was $45.6 million and $37.4 million, respectively, representing an increase of 21.8%. The increase was primarily due to:

. Our towing, salvage and rescue ship projects associated with increased construction activities and procurement progress on engineered equipment manufactured by

vendors, offset partially by,

. Lower revenue for our harbor tug projects as we had fewer vessels under construction.

Gross loss — Gross loss for 2020 and 2019 was $1.2 million (2.7% of revenue) and $0.3 million (0.7% of revenue), respectively. The gross loss for 2020 was primarily

. A low margin backlog and the under recovery of overhead costs primarily due to construction delays for our three research vessel projects associated with the

previously disclosed temporary suspension of construction activities on the projects until engineering achieves further completion; and

. Project charges of $1.2 million related to forecast cost increases and forecast liquidated damages on our two forty-vehicle ferry projects. The impacts were
primarily associated with the first vessel and construction activities performed by our former Fabrication Division prior to transferring management and project
execution responsibility of the vessels to our Shipyard Division in the first quarter 2020. See Note 2 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of

our project impacts.

The increase in gross loss for 2020 relative to 2019 was primarily due to:

. The aforementioned project charges of $1.2 million; and

. A lower margin mix, offset partially by,

. Higher revenue and increased recoveries of overhead costs due to higher activity.

General and administrative expense — General and administrative expense for 2020 and 2019 was $0.6 million (1.9% of revenue) and $0.6 million (2.0% of revenue),

respectively, representing a decrease of 7.9%.

Other (income) expense, net — Other (income) expense, net for 2020 was expense of $0.1 million.

Fabrication & Services Division(1)

New project awards

Revenue
Gross profit
Gross profit percentage
General and administrative expense
Impairments and (gain) loss on assets held for sale
Other (income) expense, net
Operating income (loss)

(1) In the first quarter 2020, our Fabrication and Services Divisions were operationally combined to form a new division called Fabrication & Services. Accordingly, segment results
(including the effects of eliminations) for our Fabrication and Services Divisions for 2019 have been combined to conform to the presentation of our reportable segments for
2020. In addition, in the first quarter 2020, management and project execution responsibility for our two, forty-vehicle ferry projects was transferred from our former Fabrication
Division to our Shipyard Division. Accordingly, revenue of $0.8 million associated with these projects for 2019 was reclassified from our former Fabrication Division to our
Shipyard Division to conform to the presentation of these projects for 2020 (the projects had no significant gross profit for 2019). See Note 7 of our Financial Statements in Item 1

for further discussion of our realigned operating divisions.

New Project Awards — New project awards for 2020 and 2019 were $12.6 million and $43.0 million, respectively. Significant new project awards for 2019 relate to our

offshore jacket and deck and subsea components projects.

Revenue — Revenue for 2020 and 2019 was $33.4 million and $30.6 million, respectively, representing an increase of 9.3%. The increase was primarily due to progress
on our offshore jacket and deck project, offset partially by lower offshore services activity.

Three Months Ended Favorable (Unfavorable)
March 31, Change
2020 2019 Amount Percent
12,647 $ 43,029 $ (30,382) nm
33,443 $ 30,593 $ 2,850 9.3%
970 969 1 0.1%
2.9% 3.2%
839 1,219 380 31.2%
— (70) (70) (100.0)%
(10,034) 71 10,105 nm
10,165 (251) 10,416 nm



Gross profit — Gross profit for 2020 and 2019 was $1.0 million (2.9% of revenue) and $1.0 million (3.2% of revenue), respectively. The gross profit for 2020 was
primarily due to:

. Project improvements of $0.9 million related to cost decreases and increased contract price for our paddlewheel riverboat and subsea components projects which
were completed in the first quarter 2020. See Note 2 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our project impacts; offset partially by,

. A low margin backlog and the under recovery of overhead cost primarily due to low backlog levels.
The comparable gross profit for 2020 relative to 2019 was primarily due to:

. The aforementioned project improvements of $0.9 million, offset partially by,

. A lower margin mix.

General and administrative expense - General and administrative expense for 2020 and 2019 was $0.8 million (2.5% of revenue) and $1.2 million (4.0% of revenue),
respectively, representing a decrease of 31.2%. The decrease was primarily due to cost reductions associated with combining our former Fabrication and Services Divisions.

Impairments and (gain) loss on assets held for sale — Impairments and (gain) loss on assets held for sale for 2019 was a gain of $0.1 million. See Note 3 of our Financial
Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our assets held for sale.

Other (income) expense, net - Other (income) expense, net for 2020 and 2019 was income of $10.0 million and expense of $0.1 million, respectively. The income for
2020 was primarily due to a gain of approximately $10.0 million associated with the settlement of a contract dispute for a project completed in 2015. See Note 1 of our
Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our settlement of the contract dispute.

Corporate Division
Three Months Ended Favorable (Unfavorable)
March 31, Change
2020 2019 Amount Percent
Revenue (eliminations) $ (447) $ (399) $ (48) (12.0)%
Gross loss — (136) 136 100.0%
Gross loss percentage n/a n/a
General and administrative expense 2,330 1,991 (339) (17.0)%
Operating loss (2,330) (2,127) (203) 9.5)%

Gross loss — Gross loss for 2019 was $0.1 million and represents costs incurred by the Corporate Division to support our operating divisions. Such costs were reflected
within the operating divisions in 2020.

General and administrative expense — General and administrative expense for 2020 and 2019 was $2.3 million (3.0% of consolidated revenue) and $2.0
million (2.9% of consolidated revenue), respectively, representing an increase of 17.0%. The increase was primarily due to:

. Higher legal and advisory fees related to customer disputes; offset partially by,

. Lower incentive plan costs and other cost savings including headcount reductions.

The customer disputes relate primarily to a contract dispute for a completed project that was settled during the first quarter 2020, and our MPSV projects which are
subject to purported termination and for which construction has been suspended. Legal and advisory fees related to such disputes totaled $0.6 million and $0.1 million for 2020
and 2019, respectively. See Note 1 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of our settlement of the contract dispute and Note 5 for further discussion of our
MPSV dispute.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Available Liquidity
Our primary sources of liquidity are our cash and cash equivalents, scheduled maturities of our short-term investments, and availability under our Credit

Agreement. At March 31, 2020, our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaled $68.6 million, and availability under our Credit Agreement was $30.2 million as
follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2020
Cash and cash equivalents $ 48,562
Short-term investments (1) 19,993
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 68,555
Credit Agreement total capacity $ 40,000
Outstanding letters of credit (9,820)
Credit Agreement available capacity $ 30,180

(1) Includes U.S. Treasuries with original maturities of more than three months, but less than six months.
Working Capital

Our available liquidity is impacted by changes in our working capital and our capital expenditure requirements. At March 31, 2020, our working capital was $72.3
million and included $68.6 million of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and $8.1 million of assets held for sale. Excluding cash, cash equivalents, short-term
investments and assets held for sale, our working capital at March 31, 2020 was negative $4.4 million, and consisted of net contract assets and contract liabilities (collectively,
"Contracts in Progress") of $53.3 million; contracts receivable and retainage of $16.2 million; inventory, prepaid expenses and other current assets of $4.7 million; and accounts
payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $78.6 million. The components of our working capital (excluding cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and
assets held for sale) at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, and changes in such amounts during 2020, was as follows (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019 Change(3)

Contract assets $ 64,905 $ 52,128 $ 12,777
Contract liabilities(1) (11,571) (26,271) 14,700

Contracts in progress, net(2) 53,334 25,857 27,477
Contracts receivable and retainage, net 16,178 26,095 9,917)
Prepaid expenses, inventory and other current assets 4,728 6,624 (1,896)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities(4) (78,619) (71,573) (7,046)

Total $ (4379) $ (12,997) § 8,618

(1) Contract liabilities at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, include accrued contract losses of $4.6 million and $6.4 million, respectively.

(2) Represents our cash position relative to revenue recognized on projects, with contract assets representing unbilled amounts that reflect future cash inflows on projects, and contract
liabilities representing (i) advance payments that reflect future cash expenditures and non-cash earnings on projects and (ii) accrued contract losses that represent future cash
expenditures on projects.

(3) Changes referenced in the cash flow activity section below may differ from the changes in this table due to non-cash reclassifications and due to certain changes in balance sheet
accounts being reflected within other line items on the Statement of Cash Flows, including bad debt expense, gains and losses on sales of fixed assets and other assets, and accruals
for capital expenditures.

(4) Accounts payable includes progress accruals associated with engineered equipment manufactured by vendors, and services provided by subcontractors, that is not contractually
billable or has not been billed by the vendors and subcontractors. Such accruals totaled $44.6 million and $34.7 million at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, and
result in an increase in percentage of completion on our projects and an increase in our contract assets.

Fluctuations in our working capital, and its components, are not unusual in our business and are impacted by the size of our projects and the mix of our backlog. Our
working capital is particularly impacted by the timing of new project awards and related payments in advance of performing work, and the subsequent achievement of billing
milestones or project progress on backlog. Working capital is also impacted at period-end by the timing of contracts receivable collections and accounts payable payments on
our projects.
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Cash Flow Activity

Operating Activities - Cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2020 was $7,000, and cash used in operating activities for the three
months ended March 31, 2019 was $8.5 million, and was primarily due to the net impacts of the following:

2020 Activity

Operating income excluding depreciation and amortization of $2.2 million and stock-based compensation expense of $0.1 million. Operating income includes a
gain of $10.0 million associated with the settlement of a contract dispute for a previously completed project;

Increase in contract assets of $12.8 million related to the timing of billings on projects, primarily due to increased unbilled positions on projects in our Shipyard
Division (due to increased unbilled positions for our research vessel projects and towing, salvage and rescue ship projects, offset partially by decreased unbilled
positions for our harbor tug projects);

Decrease in contract liabilities of $14.7 million, primarily due to the unwind of advance payments on projects in our Fabrication & Services Division (for our
offshore jacket and deck project and material supply project) and projects in our Shipyard Division (for our towing, salvage and rescue ship projects);

Decrease in contracts receivable and retainage of $9.9 million related to the timing of billings and collections on projects, primarily due to collections on two
projects in our Fabrication & Services Division;

Decrease in prepaid expenses, inventory and other assets of $1.8 million, primarily due to prepaid expenses and the associated timing of certain prepayments;
Increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $7.7 million, primarily due to increased procurement activity and progress accruals
for engineered equipment manufactured by vendors for projects in our Shipyard Division (for our research vessel projects and towing, salvage and rescue ship
projects); and

Change in noncurrent assets and liabilities, net of $0.2 million.

2019 Activity

Operating loss excluding net gains from asset sales of $0.3 million, bad debt expense of $53,000, depreciation and amortization of $2.6 million, asset impairments
of $0.3 million, and stock-based compensation expense $0.6 million;

Increase in contract assets of $8.7 million, primarily due to increased unbilled positions on two projects in our Shipyard Division;

Decrease in contract liabilities of $7.6 million, primarily due to the partial unwind of advance payments on two separate projects in our Shipyard Division and
Fabrication & Services Division;

Decrease in contracts receivable and retainage of $0.8 million, primarily due to the timing of billings and collections on our projects;

Decrease in prepaid expenses, inventory and other assets of $1.1 million, primarily due to inventory and prepaid expenses;

Increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $6.0 million, primarily due to increased project activity for projects in our Shipyard
Division; and

Change in noncurrent assets and liabilities, net of $0.2 million.

Investing Activities — Cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 was $1.0 million, and $11.4 million, respectively. Cash used
in investing activities during the 2020 period was primarily due to capital expenditures of $2.1 million (primarily related to enhancements to our Shipyard Division facilities to
execute our backlog), offset partially by proceeds from the sale of assets held for sale of $1.1 million. Cash used in investing activities during the 2019 period was primarily due
to the net purchase of short-term investments of $11.5 million and capital expenditures of $0.3 million, offset partially by proceeds from the sale of equipment of $0.4 million.

Financing Activities — Cash used in financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 was $0.1 million and $0.7 million, respectively, and was
primarily due to tax payments made on behalf of employees from vested stock withholdings.
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Credit Facilities

Credit Agreement — We have a $40.0 million revolving credit facility (“Credit Agreement”) with Hancock Whitney Bank ("Whitney Bank") that can be used for
borrowings or letters of credit that matures June 9, 2021. On February 28, 2020, we amended our Credit Agreement to amend our financial covenants. Our amended quarterly
financial covenants at March 31, 2020, and for the remaining term of the Credit Agreement, are as follows:

. Ratio of current assets to current liabilities of not less than 1.25:1.00;

. Minimum tangible net worth of at least the sum of $130.0 million, plus 100% of the proceeds from any issuance of stock or other equity after deducting of any
fees, commissions, expenses and other costs incurred in such offering;

. Minimum cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $40.0 million; and
. Ratio of funded debt to tangible net worth of not more than 0.50:1.00.

Our Credit Agreement also includes restrictions regarding our ability to: (i) grant liens; (ii) make certain loans or investments; (iii) incur additional indebtedness or
guarantee other indebtedness in excess of specified levels; (iv) make any material change to the nature of our business or undergo a fundamental change; (v) make any material
dispositions; (vi) acquire another company or all or substantially all of its assets; (vii) enter into a merger, consolidation, or sale leaseback transaction; or (viii) declare and pay
dividends if any potential default or event of default occurs.

Interest on borrowings under the Credit Agreement may be designated, at our option, as either the Wall Street Journal published Prime Rate (3.3% at March 31, 2020)
or LIBOR (1.0% at March 31, 2020) plus 2.0% per annum. Commitment fees on the unused portion of the Credit Agreement are 0.4% per annum and interest on outstanding
letters of credit is 2.0% per annum. The Credit Agreement is secured by substantially all of our assets (with a negative pledge on our real property).

At March 31, 2020, we had no outstanding borrowings under our Credit Agreement and $9.8 million of outstanding letters of credit to support our projects, providing
$30.2 million of available capacity. At March 31, 2020, we were in compliance with all of our financial covenants, with a tangible net worth of $159.3 million (as defined by
the Credit Agreement); total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $68.6 million; a ratio of current assets to current liabilities of 1.80 to 1.00; and a ratio of
funded debt to tangible net worth of 0.06:1.00.

Surety Bonds — We issue surety bonds in the ordinary course of business to support our projects. At March 31, 2020, we had $411.8 million of outstanding surety
bonds. Although we believe there is sufficient bonding capacity available to us from one or more financial institutions, such capacity is uncommitted, and accordingly, we can
provide no assurances that necessary bonding capacity will be available to support our future bonding requirements.

Loan Agreement — On April 17, 2020, we entered into an unsecured loan in the aggregate amount of $10.0 million (the “PPP Loan”) with Whitney Bank for proceeds of
$10.0 million pursuant to the Payroll Protection Program (“PPP”), which is sponsored by the Small Business Administration (“SBA”) and is part of the Coronavirus Aid,
Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”). The PPP provides for loans to qualifying businesses, the proceeds of which may only be used for payroll costs, rent,
utilities, mortgage interest, and interest on other pre-existing indebtedness (the “permissible expenses”). The PPP Loan matures on April 17, 2022, bears interest at a fixed rate
of 1.0 percent per annum, and is payable in monthly installments commencing on November 17, 2020. The PPP Loan may be prepaid at any time prior to maturity with no
prepayment penalties. The PPP Loan, and accrued interest, may be forgiven partially or in full, if certain conditions are met. The most significant of the conditions are:

. Only amounts expended for permissible expenses during the eight-week period following April 17, 2020 (the “covered period”) are eligible for loan forgiveness;

. Of the total amount of permissible expenses for which forgiveness can be granted, at least 75% must be for payroll costs, or a proportionate reduction of the
maximum loan forgiveness amount will occur; and

. If there are reductions in employee headcount (or employee compensation is reduced by more than 25%) during the covered period, a further reduction of the
maximum loan forgiveness amount will occur.

In order to obtain full forgiveness of the PPP Loan, we must request forgiveness and provide satisfactory documentation in accordance with applicable SBA
guidelines. We will be obligated to repay any portion of the principal amount of the PPP Loan that is not forgiven, together with accrued interest. We intend to use the PPP
Loan proceeds for only permissible purposes; however, we can provide no assurances that we will be eligible for forgiveness of the PPP Loan, in whole or in part. We received
a consent from Whitney Bank that allows the PPP Loan to be included as permitted debt under our debt covenants in our Credit Agreement and is subject to, among other
things, compliance with the CARES Act and use of the PPP Loan proceeds only for permissible purposes and in a manner intended to maximize our entitlement to forgiveness
of the PPP Loan. See Note 4 and Note 7 of our Financial Statements in Item 1 for further discussion of the PPP Loan.
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Liquidity Outlook

As discussed in our Overview, we continue to focus on securing profitable new project awards and backlog in the near-term and generating operating income and cash
flows in the longer-term. We have made significant progress in our efforts to preserve and improve our liquidity, including cost reductions, the sale of underutilized assets and
facilities and an improved overall cashflow position on our projects in backlog. In addition, at March 31, 2020, we continue to have $8.1 million of assets held for sale;
however, we can provide no assurances that we will successfully sell these assets or that we will recover their carrying value. The primary uses of our liquidity for 2020 and the
foreseeable future are to fund:

. Overhead costs associated with the underutilization of our facilities within our Shipyard Division and Fabrication & Services Division, until we secure and/or
begin to execute sufficient backlog to fully recover our overhead costs;

. Capital expenditures (including enhancements to our Shipyard Division facilities to execute our backlog);
. Accrued contract losses recorded at March 31, 2020;

. Working capital requirements for our projects (including the unwind of advance payments and potential additional projects for the U.S. Navy if the
aforementioned options are exercised); and

. Corporate administrative expenses and initiatives to diversify and enhance our business.

We anticipate capital expenditures of $10.0 million to $12.0 million for the remainder of 2020, of which approximately $8.0 million represents capital investments
required by our contracts for the construction of our five towing, salvage and rescue ships. The expenditures relate to the construction of vessel erection sites and a warehouse
for storage. While the capital investment is required by the contracts, the assets will benefit our construction operations going forward, including supporting our execution of
any further towing, salvage and rescue ships if our customer exercises its options for additional vessels as discussed in “New Awards and Backlog” above. Further investments
in facilities may be required to win and execute potential new project awards, which are not included in these estimates.

We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at March 31, 2020, and availability under our Credit Agreement, will be sufficient to enable us to
fund our operating expenses, meet our working capital and capital expenditure requirements, and satisfy any debt service obligations or other funding requirements, for at least
twelve months from the date of this Report. Our evaluation of the sufficiency of our cash and liquidity is primarily based on our financial forecast for 2020 and 2021, which is
impacted by our existing backlog and estimates of future new project awards. We can provide no assurances that our financial forecast will be achieved or that we will have
sufficient cash or availability under our Credit Agreement to meet planned operating expenses and other unforeseen cash requirements. Accordingly, we may be required to
obtain new or additional credit facilities, sell additional assets or conduct equity or debt offerings at a time when it is not beneficial to do so.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms, and that such information is
communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered by this Report. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this
Report.

During the first quarter 2020, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

We are subject to various routine legal proceedings in the normal conduct of our business, primarily involving commercial disputes and claims, workers’ compensation
claims, and claims for personal injury under general maritime laws of the U.S. and the Jones Act. While the outcome of these lawsuits, legal proceedings and claims cannot be
predicted with certainty, we believe that the outcome of any such proceedings, even if determined adversely, would not have a material adverse effect on our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

On October 2, 2018, we filed a lawsuit against our customer to enforce our rights and remedies under the applicable construction contracts for two MPSVs. The lawsuit
was filed in the Twenty-Second Judicial District Court for the Parish of St. Tammany, State of Louisiana and is styled Gulf Island Shipyards, LLC v. Hornbeck Offshore
Services, LLC. The customer responded to our lawsuit by denying many of the allegations in the lawsuit and asserting a counterclaim against us. We filed a response to the
counterclaim denying all the customer's claims. The customer subsequently filed an amendment to its counterclaim to add claims by the customer against the Surety. The
customer also filed a motion for partial summary judgment with the trial court seeking, among other things, to obtain possession of the vessels. A hearing on the motion was
held on May 28, 2019, and the customer's request to obtain possession of the vessels was denied by the trial court. The customer subsequently filed a second motion for partial
summary judgment re-urging its previously denied request to obtain possession of the vessels. A hearing on the second motion was held on November 9, 2019, and the
customer’s request to obtain possession of the vessels was again denied by the trial court. Thereafter, the customer requested that the appellate court exercise its discretion and
review the trial court’s denial of the customer’s second motion. We have opposed the discretionary appellate review request of the customer and the appellate matter is
pending. Discovery in connection with the lawsuit is ongoing. See Note 5 of our Financial Statements in Item 1for further discussion of this litigation.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The following risk factor represents a material change in our risk factors from those disclosed in Part I, Item 1A of our 2019 Annual Report. To the extent COVID-19
adversely affects our business, financial condition, results of operation and liquidity, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in Item
1A.“Risk Factors” included in our 2019 Annual Report.

The recent outbreak of COVID-19 and certain developments in the global oil markets have had and may continue to have a negative impact on our operations.

COVID-19 is a widespread public health crisis that is adversely affecting global economies and financial markets. In March 2020, the World Health Organization
declared COVID-19 a pandemic and the U.S. President has announced a national emergency relating to COVID-19. National, state and local authorities have recommended
social distancing and imposed, or are considering, quarantine and isolation measures on large portions of the population, including mandatory business closures. These
measures, while intended to protect human life, have had and are expected to continue to have a serious adverse impact on domestic and foreign economies of uncertain
severity and duration. Due to these COVID-19 related measures, there has been a decline in the demand for, and thus market prices of, oil and these declines have been
exacerbated by the production dispute between Russia and the member of OPEC, particularly Saudi Arabia, and the subsequent actions taken by such countries as a result
thereof. The effectiveness of economic stabilization efforts, including proposed government payments to affected citizens and industries, is uncertain. Some economists are
predicting the United States may enter a recession of unknown duration as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic combined with the weak commodity price environment. Any
such prolonged period of economic slowdown or recession could have a significant adverse effect on our financial condition and financial condition of our customers,
subcontractors and other counterparties.

We operate in a critical infrastructure industry, as defined by the U.S. Department of Homeland Security. Consistent with federal guidelines and with state and local
orders to date, we currently continue to operate across our footprint. Notwithstanding our continued operations, the progression of and global response to COVID-19, and
related contraction in oil demand, combined with depressed crude oil prices have had and may continue to have negative impacts on our operations, which include but are not
limited to:

. Delays, Suspension or Termination of Backlog; Reduced Bidding Activity; Deterioration of Customer Financial Condition. Certain of our customers have
requested to renegotiate pricing and suspended contracts in our backlog and bidding activities for several new project opportunities have been suspended. We may
have additional delays, suspensions or terminations of contracts in our backlog and further reduced bidding activity for new project awards. In addition, financial
strain on our customers could impact their ability pay or otherwise perform on their obligations to us.

. Reduced availability of workforce. We have seen an increase in employee absenteeism, and we have implemented COVID-19 related mitigation measures to
ensure the safety and well-being of our employees and contractors, both of which have impacted our project execution. The ability of our employees to work may
be further impacted by COVID-19 (including,
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but not limited to, the temporary inability of the workforce to work due to illness, quarantine following illness, or absenteeism for fear of contracting COVID-19),
which may further impact our progress on projects.

Performance by Subcontractors. COVID-19 has also had an impact on our suppliers and subcontractors. Failure of suppliers and subcontractors, on which we rely,
to deliver materials and provide services, or perform under their contracts on a timely basis or at all due to their own financial or operational difficulties or inability
to fulfill their contractual obligations due to the reduced availability of their workforce, has had and may continue to have an adverse impact on our operations.
The inability of our suppliers or subcontractors to perform could result in the need to transition to alternative suppliers or subcontractors, which could result in
significant incremental cost and delay, or the need for us to provide other supplemental means to support our existing suppliers and subcontractors.

The extent which COVID-19 and the related contraction in oil demand and the depressed crude oil prices may adversely impact our business, prospects, financial
condition, operating results and cash flows depends on future developments that are highly uncertain and unpredictable. This current level of uncertainty over the economic
and operational impacts of COVID-19 and the related contraction in oil demand and the depressed crude oil prices means the related business and financial impacts cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time.

Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company,_incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
May 13, 2019 (SEC File No. 001-34279).
32 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 13, 2019 (SEC
File No. 001-34279).
10.1 Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated February 28, 2020, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2019 filed with the SEC on March 5, 2020.
10.2 Promissory Note, dated April 17, 2020, by and between Hancock Whitney Bank and Gulf Island Fabrication, Inc.*
10.3 Form of Retention Bonus Agreement dated March 3, 2020. *t
31.1 CEO Certifications pursuant to Rule 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. *
31.2 CFO Certifications pursuant to Rule 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. *
32 Section 906 Certification furnished pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. *
101 Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following items formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language):
1) Consolidated Balance Sheets,
(i1) Consolidated Statements of Operations,
(iii) Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity,
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and
) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Filed herewith.

+  Management Contract or Compensatory Plan.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1031623/000103162319000035/ex31-articlesofincorporati.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1031623/000103162319000035/ex32-bylawsamendedandresta.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1031623/000156459020008796/gifi-ex1021_596.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/sec/0001564590-20-022167/gifi-ex102_76.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/sec/0001564590-20-022167/gifi-ex103_282.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/sec/0001564590-20-022167/gifi-ex311_6.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/sec/0001564590-20-022167/gifi-ex312_7.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/sec/0001564590-20-022167/gifi-ex32_8.htm

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto
duly authorized.

GULF ISLAND FABRICATION, INC.

BY: /s/ Westley S. Stockton
Westley S. Stockton
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer, Secretary and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: May 6, 2020
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Exhibit 10.2
PROMISSORY NOTE

Principal Loan Date Maturity Loan No Call/ Coll Account Officer Initials
$10,000,000.00 04-17-2020 04-17-2022 33000535245

References in the boxes above are for Lender's use only and do not limit the applicability of this document to any particular loan or item.
Any item above containing “***” has been omitted due to text length limitations.

Borrower: GULF ISLAND FABRICATION, INC. Lender: HANCOCK WHITNEY BANK
16225 PARK TEN PL SUITE 300 MID MKT - HOUMA/THIB
HOUSTON, TX 77084 P. 0. BOX 61260

NEW ORLEANS, LA 70161.9967

Principal Amount: $10,000,000.00 Date of Note: April 17,
2020

PROMISE TO PAY. GULF ISLAND FABRICATION, INC. ("Borrower") promises to pay to the order of HANCOCK WHITNEY BANK ("Lender"), in lawful money of the United States of America
the sum of Ten Million & 00/100 Dollars (U.S. $10,000,000.00), together with simple interest assessed on the unpaid principal balance of this Note as outstanding from time to time,
calculated as described in the "INTEREST CALCULATION METHOD" paragraph using a rate of 1.000% per annum based on a year of 360 days, commencing on April 17, 2020, and
continuing until this Note is paid in full.

PAYMENT. Borrower will pay this loan in 17 payments of $562,870.45 each payment and an irregular last payment estimated at $562,870.61. Borrower's first payment is due November 17,
2020, and all subsequent payments are due on the same day of each month after that. Borrower's final payment due on April 17, 2022, may be greater if Borrower does not make payments
as scheduled. Unless otherwise agreed or required by applicable law, payments will be applied first to any accrued unpaid interest; then to principal; and then to any unpaid collection
costs. Borrower will pay Lender at Lender's address shown above or at such other place as Lender may designate in writing.

DEFERRAL PERIOD. Borrower will not be required to make loan payments for the first six months of the Note (the "Deferral Period"). During the Deferral Period the outstanding principal balance will
accrue interest as stated herein.

INTEREST CALCULATION METHOD. Interest on this Note is computed on a 365/360 basis; that is, by applying the ratio of the interest rate over a year of 360 days, multiplied by the
outstanding principal balance, multiplied by the actual number of days the principal balance is outstanding. All interest payable under this Note is computed using this method. This
calculation method results in a higher effective interest rate than the numeric interest rate stated in this Note.

PREPAYMENT. Other than Borrower's obligation to pay any prepayment penalty, Borrower may prepay this Note in full at any time by paying the then unpaid principal balance of this Note,
plus accrued simple interest through date of prepayment. If Borrower prepays this Note in full, or if Lender accelerates payment, Borrower understands that, unless otherwise required by
law, any prepaid fees or charges will not be subject to rebate and will be earned by Lender at the time this Note is signed. Early payments will not, unless agreed to by Lender in writing,
relieve Borrower of Borrower's obligation to continue to make payments under the payment schedule. Rather, early payments will reduce the principal balance due and may result in
Borrower's making fewer payments. Borrower agrees not to send Lender payments marked "paid in full", "without recourse", or similar language. If Borrower sends such a payment, Lender
may accept it without losing any of Lender's rights under this Note, and Borrower will remain obligated to pay any further amount owed to Lender. All written communications concerning
disputed amounts, including any check or other payment instrument that indicates that the payment constitutes "payment in full" of the amount owed or that is tendered with other
conditions or limitations or as full satisfaction of a disputed amount must be mailed or delivered to: HANCOCK WHITNEY BANK, LENDING SERVICES, P. O. BOX 211269 MONTGOMERY,
AL 36121.

DEFAULT. Each of the following shall constitute an event of default ("Event of Default") under this Note:
Payment Default. Borrower fails to make any payment when due under this Note.

Default Under Security Agreements. Should Borrower or any guarantor violate, or fail to comply fully with any of the terms and conditions of, or default under any security right,
instrument, document, or agreement directly or indirectly securing repayment of this Note.

Other Defaults in Favor of Lender. Should Borrower or any guarantor of this Note default under any other loan, extension of credit, security right, instrument, document, or agreement,
or obligation in favor of Lender.

Default in Favor of Third Parties. Should Borrower or any guarantor default under any loan, extension of credit, security agreement, purchase or sales agreement, or any other
agreement, in favor of any other creditor or person that may affect any property or other collateral directly or indirectly securing repayment of this Note.

Insolvency. Should the suspension, failure or insolvency, however evidenced, of Borrower or any Guarantor of this Note occur or exist.
Death or Interdiction. Should any guarantor of this Note die or be interdicted.

Readjustment of Indebtedness. Should proceedings for readjustment of indebtedness, reorganization, bankruptcy, composition or extension under any insolvency law be brought by or
against Borrower or any guarantor.

Assignment for Benefit of Creditors. Should Borrower or any guarantor file proceedings for a respite or make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors.
Receivership. Should a receiver of all or any part of Borrower's property, or the property of any guarantor, be applied for or appointed.
Dissolution Proceedings. Proceedings for the dissolution or appointment of a liquidator of Borrower or any guarantor are commenced.

False Statements. Any warranty, representation or statement made or furnished to Lender by Borrower or on Borrower's behalf under this Note or the related documents is false or
misleading in any material respect, either now or at the time made or furnished or becomes false or misleading at any time thereafter.

Material Adverse Change. Should any material adverse change occur in the financial condition of Borrower or any guarantor of this Note or should any material discrepancy exist
between the financial statements submitted by Borrower or any guarantor and the actual financial condition of Borrower or such guarantor.

LENDER'S RIGHTS UPON DEFAULT. Should any one or more default events occur or exist under this Note as provided above, Lender shall have the right, at Lender’s sole option, to declare
formally this Note to be in default and to accelerate the maturity and insist upon immediate payment in full of the unpaid principal balance then outstanding under this Note, plus accrued
interest, together with reasonable attorneys' fees, costs, expenses and other fees and charges as provided herein. Lender shall have the further right, again at Lender's sole option, to
declare formal default and to accelerate the maturity and to insist upon immediate payment in full of each and every other loan, extension of credit, debt, liability and/or obligation of every
nature and kind that Borrower may then owe to Lender, whether direct or indirect or by way of assignment, and whether absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, voluntary or
involuntary, determined or undetermined, secured or unsecured, whether Borrower is obligated alone or with others on a "solidary" or "joint and several" basis, as a principal obligor or
otherwise, all without further notice or demand, unless Lender shall otherwise elect.

EXPENSES. If Lender refers this Note to an attorney for collection, or files suit against Borrower to collect this Note, or if Borrower files for bankruptcy or other relief from creditors, Borrower
agrees to pay Lender’s permissible fees.

GOVERNING LAW. This Note will be governed by federal law applicable to Lender and, to the extent not preempted by federal law, the laws of the State of Louisiana without regard to its
conflicts of law provisions. This Note has been accepted by Lender in the State of Louisiana.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. Borrower agrees to provide Lender with such financial statements and other related information at such frequencies and in such detail as Lender may reasonably
request.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND INFORMATION. With respect to any provision in this Agreement regarding financial statements and information,
Borrower agrees to provide to the Lender upon request both true and correct current financial statements and tax returns in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender. The financial
statements shall include, among other things, detailed information regarding (i) any entities, such as corporations, partnerships, or limited liability companies of which the Borrower is the
majority owner and (ii) any entities of which the Borrower is not the majority owner, but for which Borrower is directly or contingently liable on debts or obligations of any kind incurred by
those entities. All financial statements or records submitted to Lender via electronic means, including, without limitation by facsimile, open internet communications or other telephonic or
electronic methods, including, without limitation, documents in Tagged Image Format Files ("TIFF") or Portable Document Format ("PDF") shall be treated as originals, fully binding and with
full legal force and effect and the parties waive any rights they may have to object to such treatment. The Lender may rely on all such records in good faith as complete and accurate records
produced or maintained by or on behalf of the party submitting such records.



NO NOVATION IF EARLIER NOTE CANCELLED. If an earlier note of any Borrower is cancelled at the time of execution hereof, then this Note constitutes an extension, but not a novation, of
the amount of the continuing indebtedness, and Borrower agrees that all security rights held by Lender under the earlier note shall continue in full force and effect.
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SBA LOAN. When SBA is the holder, this Note will be interpreted and enforced under federal law, including SBA regulations. Lender or SBA may use state or local procedures for filing
papers, recording documents, giving notice, foreclosing liens, and other purposes. By using such procedures, SBA does not waive any federal immunity from state or local control, penalty,
tax, or liability. As to this Note, Borrower may not claim or assert against SBA any local or state law to deny any obligation, defeat any claim of SBA, or preempt federal law.

ADDITIONAL DEFAULTS AND ACCELERATION. To the extent permitted by applicable law, in addition to the events of default set forth above, Lender shall have the right, at its sole option, to
insist upon immediate payment (to accelerate the maturity) of this Note should any type of lien, judgment, levy, seizure, garnishment, tax lien, or court order occur affecting any assets of
Borrower.

PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM. Borrower acknowledges that funds are advanced under this Note subject to the provisions of the Paycheck Protection Program, as enacted as part of
the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (together with its implementing regulations and guidance and as amended from time to time, the "CARES Act"). The Paycheck
Protection Program is administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration ("SBA").

If any provision of this Note is inconsistent with or prohibited by the terms of the Paycheck Protection Program as enacted by the CARES Act, then such provision shall be deemed null and
void and stricken from this Note as if it had never existed and the remainder of the Note shall remain in full force and effect.

LOAN FORGIVENESS. Borrower shall be eligible to apply to Lender for loan forgiveness of the full amount or a portion of the principal amount of this Note, in accordance with the terms of the
CARES Act, beginning no earlier than either eight (8) weeks after the date of this Note and ending sixty (60) days prior to the maturity date of the Note. The maximum amount that may be
eligible for forgiveness will be based on the amount of payroll costs, mortgage interest, rent expenses, and utilities expenses paid by Borrower during the eight (8) weeks period starting
following the date of this Note. The actual amount that will be forgiven may be subject to a cap on the amount of non-payroll expenses that will be deemed eligible for forgiveness by the
United States Treasury Department ("USTD") and the SBA. The actual amount forgiven may also be further reduced based on reductions in head count during the period between February
25, 2020 and April 26, 2020 and/or any reductions in salary of any employees by more than 25% of their prior year compensation, provided, however, that the Borrower will have until June
30, 2020 to restore employment and salary levels to pre February 25th levels. The precise dates for measurements of salary and payroll levels and the actual parameters that will be applied
for reductions in the amount that may be forgiven are all subject to further guidance from the USTD and the SBA.

BORROWER UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT BORROWER WILL REMAIN LIABLE FOR THE PAYMENT IN FULL OF ANY AND ALL AMOUNTS OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST THAT ARE DEEMED
NOT FORGIVABLE UNDER THE TERMS OF THE CARES ACT IN LENDER'S REASONABLE AND SOLE DISCRETION. ALL UNFORGIVEN AMOUNTS OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REMAINING

OUTSTANDING OR ACCRUING AFTER LENDER HAS MADE A DETERMINATION AS TO THE AMOUNT THAT CAN BE FORGIVEN UNDER THIS NOTE, SHALL BE DUE AND PAYABLE TO LENDER IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THIS NOTE.

DOCUMENTATION TO SUPPORT REQUEST FOR LOAN FORGIVENESS. In order to be eligible for loan forgiveness, Borrower shall be required to submit to Lender such information as Lender
may request in accordance with the requirements for loan forgiveness set forth in the CARES Act, including, without limitation:

- Quarterly IRS Forms 940,941, or 944 for 3/31/2019 to 6/30/2019 and 3/31/2020 to 6/30/2020; and
- Documentation in the form of cancelled checks, payment receipts, and bank statements showing payment of the mortgage interest, rent payments and utilities during the period from
2/15/2020 to 6/30/2020

LOAN FORGIVENESS CERTIFICATION. Borrower shall further be required to sign a certification, in a form to be provided by Lender, which states that the documents submitted to Lender
are true and accurate in. all material respects, that the Borrower utilized the funds to be forgiven in order to retain employees on its payroll and to make eligible mortgage interest, rent and
utility payments. A decision on loan forgiveness will be made within sixty (60) days from receipt of all required documentation to support such application.

CLOSING CERTIFICATION. Borrower hereby further reaffirms and certifies (i) the accuracy of the information contained in the application submitted to Lender for this Loan and (ii) that the
supporting documentation submitted to Lender in connection with Borrower's application is complete, true and accurate.

Notwithstanding any provisions of this Note, Borrower will not be required to pay any attorney's fees or legal expenses.

WAIVERS. Borrower and each guarantor of this Note hereby waive demand, presentment for payment, protest, notice of protest and notice of nonpayment, and all pleas of division and
discussion, and severally agree that their obligations and liabilities to Lender hereunder shall be on a "solidary" or "joint and several" basis. Borrower and each guarantor further severally
agree that discharge or release of any party who is or may be liable to Lender for the indebtedness represented hereby, or the release of any collateral directly or indirectly securing
repayment hereof, shall not have the effect of releasing any other party or parties, who shall remain liable to Lender, or of releasing any other collateral that is not expressly released by
Lender. Borrower and each guarantor additionally agree that Lender's acceptance of payment other than in accordance with the terms of this Note, or Lender's subsequent agreement to
extend or modify such repayment terms, or Lender's failure or delay in exercising any rights or remedies granted to Lender, shall likewise not have the effect of releasing Borrower or any
other party or parties from their respective obligations to Lender, or of releasing any collateral that directly or indirectly secures repayment hereof. In addition, any failure or delay on the part
of Lender to exercise any of the rights and remedies granted to Lender shall not have the effect of waiving any of Lender's rights and remedies. Any partial exercise of any rights and/or
remedies granted to Lender shall furthermore not be construed as a waiver of any other rights and remedies; it being Borrower's intent and agreement that Lender's rights and remedies shall
be cumulative in nature. Borrower and each guarantor further agree that, should any default event occur or exist under this Note, any waiver or forbearance on the part of Lender to pursue
the rights and remedies available to Lender, shall be binding upon Lender only to the extent that Lender's specifically agrees to any such waiver or forbearance in writing. A waiver or
forbearance on the part of Lender as to one default event shall not be construed as a waiver or forbearance as to any other default. Borrower and each guarantor of this Note further agree
that any late charges provided for under this Note will not be charges for deferral of time for payment and will not and are not intended to compensate Lender's for a grace or cure period, and
no such deferral, grace or cure period has or will be granted to Borrower in return for the imposition of any late charge. Borrower recognizes that Borrower's failure to make timely payment of
amounts due under this Note will result in damages to Lender, including but not limited to Lender's loss of the use of amounts due, and Borrower agrees that any late charges imposed by
Lender hereunder will represent reasonable compensation to Lender for such damages. Failure to pay in full any installment or payment timely when due under this Note, whether or not a
late charge is assessed, will remain and shall constitute an Event of Default hereunder.

SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS LIABLE. Borrower's and each guarantor's obligations and agreements under this Note shall be binding upon Borrower's and each guarantor's respective
successors, heirs, legatees, devisees, administrators, executors and assigns. The rights and remedies granted to Lender under this Note shall inure to the benefit of Lender's successors and
assigns, as well as to any subsequent holder or holders of this Note.

CAPTION HEADINGS. Caption headings in this Note are for convenience purposes only and are not to be used to interpret or define the provisions of this Note.

SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Note is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable by any court, that provision shall be deleted from this Note and the balance of this Note shall be
interpreted as if the deleted provision never existed.

SUCCESSOR INTERESTS. The terms of this Note shall be binding upon Borrower, and upon Borrower's successors, heirs, legatees, devisees, administrators, executors and assigns, and
shall inure to the benefit of Lender and its successors and assigns.

APPLICABLE LENDING LAW. To the extent not preempted by federal law, this business or commercial loan is being made under the terms and provisions of La. R.S. 9:3509, et seq.

PRIOR TO SIGNING THIS NOTE, BORROWER READ AND UNDERSTOOD ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THIS NOTE.
BORROWER:

GULF ISLAND-FABRICATION, INC.

/sl Richard W. Heo -
AUTHORIZED SIGNER
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Exhibit 10.3

<<FULL NAME>>
<<POSITION_TITLE>>
March 3, 2020

Dear <<FULL NAME>>:
As an incentive for your continued employment with Gulf Island Fabrication, Inc. (“the Company”), you are eligible for a retention payment totaling

$ (the “Retention Payment”), which shall vest and be paid in [one/two] installment[s], subject to standard tax withholdings. In order to vest in an
installment of the Retention Payment, you must be actively employed as of the [applicable] “Payment Date” noted below.

Payment Date Payment Amount
June 30, 2020 $
December 31, 2020 $

Except as provided below, if your employment with the Company terminates for any reason or if you give notice of your intent to terminate your employment
prior to [either/the] Payment Date, you will not earn or receive any unpaid portion of the Retention Payment. If you are terminated by the Company without
“Cause” (as defined below) prior to [either/the] Payment Date, you will receive a payment for any unpaid portion of the Retention Payment, which shall be paid
to you on the 60th day flowing your termination date, provided you execute and deliver to the Company (without subsequent revocation) a waiver and release in
the form provided by the Company (the “Release”) within the time-frame specified in the Release. If you do not timely execute the Release or if you validly
revoke any part of the Release, the Company will have no obligation to provide the Retention Payment. The Company shall provide you with a form of the
Release within five (5) days after your termination date.

For purposes of this notice, and except as otherwise noted below, “Cause” shall mean: (i) your failure to substantially perform your material duties owed to the
Company (other than as a results of incapacity due to physical or mental illness); (ii) your gross negligence, fraud or willful misconduct in the course of your
employment that has a detrimental effect on the Company; (iii) your commission of any act or your failure to take any act that the Company reasonably
determines was intended by you to injure the reputation, business, or business relationships of the Company; (iv) your indictment of, conviction of, or pleas of
guilty or nolo contendere to (a) any misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, theft, unethical business conduct or other conduct which could reflect in some
material fashion unfavorably upon the Company or (b) any felony (or the equivalent of such misdemeanor or felony in a jurisdiction other than the United
States); or (v) your intentional, material misappropriation, embezzlement, or misuse of funds or property belonging to the Company. However, if you are party
to a Change of Control Agreement with the Company, “Cause” shall have the meaning set forth in that agreement.

This notice does not alter the “at will” nature of your employment, which may be terminated by you or the Company at any time.

Sincerely,

[Title]



Exhibit 31.1

Certifications
I, Richard W. Heo, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Gulf Island Fabrication, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements

made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and

have:

@

(b)

©

(d

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

@

(b)

Date: May 6, 2020

/s/ Richard W. Heo

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Richard W. Heo

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

Certifications

I, Westley S. Stockton, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Gulf Island Fabrication, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared,

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: May 6, 2020

/s/ Westley S. Stockton

Westley S. Stockton
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary and Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32

Certification Furnished Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Gulf Island Fabrication, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2020, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, who are the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certify pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company for the period
covered by the Report.

By: /s/ Richard W. Heo
Richard W. Heo
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
May 6, 2020

By: /s/ Westley S. Stockton
Westley S. Stockton
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer)
May 6, 2020

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Gulf Island Fabrication, Inc. and will be retained by Gulf Island Fabrication, Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



